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FISCAL YEARS ENDED (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Sales $5,899,927 $5,150,469 $3,774,989
Net Income 223,513 75,112 94,884
Net Income Per Diluted Common Share 4.06 1.52 2.32
Weighted Average Diluted Shares Outstanding 55,073 49,386 40,962

Additional Information:
Capital Expenditures $ 144,120 $ 100,383 $ 95,447
Depreciation Expense 124,836 109,893 63,524
Working Capital 635,413 609,857 215,865
Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations 1,146,223 1,187,770 594,241
Shareholders’ Equity 1,053,132 902,909 542,246
EBITDA 1 509,735 310,895 252,525
Book Value Per Share 20.09 16.41 12.93
Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity 2 18.4% 10.4% 21.0%

1 EBITDA IS COMPUTED USING INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INCOME TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION.

THE FISCAL 2001 COMPUTATION EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINS FROM THE SALE OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSE, AND THE SALE OF A PLANT.

2 COMPUTED USING INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE. THE FISCAL 2001 COMPUTATION EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINSFROM THE SALE

OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSES, AND THE SALE OF A PLANT.

Financial Highlights

The following Smithfield Foods employees are featured 

inside this annual report, in order of appearance:

Jim Hoffman, Plant Manager
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Ernest Purdie, Loin Trimmer

Dr. Mary Battrell, Veterinarian

Janice Murphy, Case-Ready Product Packager

Monique Meyers, Quality Assurance Lab Technician

Kraig Westerbeek, Director, Environmental Compliance



4728_Edit_3  7/31/01  12:28 PM
To Our Shareholders

I am delighted to report another record year for Smithfield Foods, Inc.—
our fourth in the past five—with earnings totaling $175 million, or $3.18
per diluted share. Factoring in the sale of our stake in IBP and the sale of a
Canadian plant, earnings reached $224 million, or $4.06 per diluted share.
These results are particularly pleasing given the disappointing earnings
reported by most of our competitors.

The success of this past year and, in fact, our results for the past several
years have been the result of long-term strategies we put in place more than
a decade ago. The combination of NPD genetics, the building of our Bladen
County plant, the opportunistic purchase of John Morrell & Co. and the
acquisition of the hog raising operations of Carroll’s Foods and Murphy
Family Farms is producing an earnings stream and business model unlike
any in our industry. Quite frankly, I am confident that, given the adverse
regulatory, environmental and political climate in the United States toward
growth in this industry, we have built a business on a scale that no one can
duplicate. The complementary benefits of hog production with superior
genetics and a large fresh pork and processed meats distribution base
represent a major competitive advantage for Smithfield Foods. You can read
more about this vertical integration strategy on page 7.

  Page 1
Benefiting From a Long-Term Focus
I have always taken the long view in running Smithfield Foods and have
made many of our major strategic decisions over the past 25 years when
they appeared to run counter to “the cycle.” Some have questioned the
timing of such moves because they thought only in terms of the present; 
I have always focused on the future. 

We made the decision to build our Bladen County plant—the world’s
largest—when profitability on that side of the business was poor. The easy
decision at the time would have been to build hog farms where profits were
strong. We took the long view, knowing that we would need the combination
of both production and processing to carve out a long-term advantage. Other
recent examples include our purchases of Carroll’s Foods and Murphy Family
Farms when hog production was out of favor and financial crisis threatened
many producers. Our timing could not have been better. These acquisitions
have substantially enhanced our earnings this past year and underscore the
success of our vertical integration strategy.
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Assembling the World’s Premier Hog Production Team
Given the growth of our hog production assets, we’ve combined Brown’s 
of Carolina, Carroll’s Foods and Murphy Farms into one organization:
Murphy-Brown, LLC. Merging the substantial talents of these companies into
one group will create an even more dynamic and forward-looking
production operation. Through Murphy-Brown, led by Jerry H. Godwin, we
now have a total of 700,000 U.S. sows plus an interest in another 40,000 in
Mexico, Brazil and Poland. Murphy-Brown raised nearly 12 million hogs this
past year, roughly 3.5 times the number of our nearest competitor. NPD
sows, a consistent raw material for branded Smithfield Lean Generation
Pork™, now account for approximately 55 percent of our total herd. Given
the success of this product, we fully expect NPD sows to account for as much
as 80 percent of our herd in five years.

I believe that Smithfield Foods has the world’s premier hog production
management team. Our talent in every segment of the production business
combined with our overall size and knowledge base will serve us well going
forward. They are helping us supply the highest level of raw materials to our
processing plants and, ultimately, superior fresh pork and processed meats
products to our customers.

Driving Growth with Lean Generation, Other Value-Added Products
In meat processing, Smithfield Foods dedicated fiscal 2001 to improving
profit margins. We increased them by 10 percent over the prior year in spite
of the generally poor market environment for fresh pork. For several years,
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we have focused on developing a home for the vast amount of raw materials
generated by our Bladen County plant. Since it opened, our operations have
been in a state of imbalance. We’ve finally closed this gap and successfully
directed more of our raw materials into value-added fresh pork products
and processed meats. While processed meats volume remained essentially
flat versus the prior year, we pared unprofitable lines and substantially
improved profit margins.

In the fresh pork arena, we focused our efforts on growing our branded
and value-added products, including case-ready items. Branded fresh pork
now accounts for 40 percent of the fresh pork available for branding, nearly
triple the percentage of just four years ago. Smithfield Lean Generation
Pork sales volume continues to grow at double-digit rates, and I am very
pleased to report that sales topped 100 million pounds. We are committing
significant resources for fiscal 2002 and beyond toward a new Lean
Generation marketing initiative in the Northeastern United States.

This program is just the beginning of a new emphasis on marketing to
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create stronger demand for our branded and value-added products and to
better serve the needs of our customers. 

Seizing the Opportunities for Case-Ready Pork
Our case-ready sales volume climbed more than 300 percent to 75 million
pounds, and we believe that significant growth opportunities exist for this
category. Case-ready products provide Wal-Mart as well as other super-
market chains advantages over the traditional manner of merchandising
fresh pork. Freshness, food safety and substantial cost reduction, as well as
the advantage of pre-packaging and pre-pricing, are among case-ready’s
many benefits. This past year we made investments in several case-ready
operations close to the distribution locations of our customers and will
continue to do so.

We see tremendous opportunities for case-ready growth in the North-
eastern United States. This belief drove our recently completed acquisition of
Moyer Packing Company, a beef operation, as well as a joint venture with
Pinnacle Foods, a company focused on case-ready products. Both are based
in Northeastern Pennsylvania and have strong distribution networks that will
help accelerate our case-ready efforts in the region. Moyer Packing also
gives us the added advantage of beef to complement our pork offerings.

The growth of our branded, case-ready and value-added fresh pork sales
lessens our exposure to the commodity side of this business. As a result, we
have improved margins, stabilized daily production levels and generated
better operating efficiencies.

M  Page 3
Improving Our Performance Internationally
On the international front, we returned to profitability after reporting a
small loss in fiscal 2000. Our Canadian and French operations continue to
perform strongly in their respective markets and to grow their product cate-
gories. In Canada, we sold Schneiders’ fresh pork operations, which did not
fit its long-term strategy of concentrating on processed and packaged goods.

Losses at our Animex operations in Poland declined substantially this
year. We knew when we made this investment more than two years ago that
we were focusing on long-term results. Many things had to be changed, and
we have made progress. This past year, we restructured Animex under our
French subsidiary to form Smithfield Europe. This new organization brings
Western European sales, marketing and management talent to Animex. We
have also consolidated and streamlined plants to make them more efficient.
Finally, we have begun securing a long-term source of hogs by working with
local farmers and through direct investment in farms.
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Producing Shareholder Returns That Are Hard to Beat
Fiscal 2001 proved to be another good year for shareholders, with our 
share price climbing 72 percent. Since 1975, this company has delivered a 
28 percent annual compound rate of return. During this period, I am proud
of the fact that we have outperformed all our competitors as well as many of
the household names you generally associate with stock market success. 

After a recent story in FORTUNE magazine on outstanding shareholder
returns since December 1983, we compared our results against those of the
companies mentioned. In every case, our numbers proved even more
impressive. We’ve produced two-and-a-half times the return of Colgate-
Palmolive, nearly three times the return of General Electric and Coca-Cola,
seven times the return of the S&P 500 Index, and we’ve even outperformed
the legendary Warren Buffett’s Berkshire Hathaway. 

Given these long-term returns and our recent stellar performance, it is
frustrating to report that Smithfield Foods trades at a modest 12 times
trailing 12 months’ earnings. That represents a significant discount to the
multiple of all the companies mentioned above. This fact should give you
comfort that significant upside potential in this stock continues to exist. 
We will continue to do what we do best, which is manage for tomorrow 
and attempt to deliver superior results. Eventually, Wall Street will recognize
and reward us.

Looking ahead, fiscal 2002 looks very promising. As we begin the period,
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hog prices have risen to levels not seen in several years. This likely means
another difficult year for the fresh pork business; however, profits on the
production side should equal or exceed our latest results. The combination of
strong profitability in hog production, focused attention on improved fresh
pork and processed meats margins, and improving international operations
should provide a favorable platform for another record year. 

I believe that our foundation is broad, our management team strong and
our strategy correct. Thank you for your continued confidence.

Sincerely,

Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
July 2, 2001
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      $207
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A HISTORY OF OUTSTANDING SHAREHOLDER RETURNS SEE HOW A $100 DOLLAR

INVESTMENT IN SMITHFIELD FOODS HAS STACKED UP AGAINST A SIMILAR INVESTMENT 

IN OUR COMPETITORS AND SOME WELL-KNOWN BENCHMARKS OVER THE YEARS. 

CLEARLY, OUR SHAREHOLDERS HAVE A LOT TO SMILE ABOUT.
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$3,293
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5



Jim Hoffman 
ships the exact
pork products 
his customers
demand…
whether they’re in
Tucson or Tokyo.

THE ONLY THING OLD-FASHIONED ABOUT SMITHFIELD IS HOW OUR PRODUCTS TASTE.

Jim Hoffman 
ships the exact
pork products 
his customers
demand…
whether they’re in
Tucson or Tokyo.

THE ONLY THING OLD-FASHIONED ABOUT SMITHFIELD IS HOW OUR PRODUCTS TASTE.

4728_Edit_3  7/31/01  12:28 PM  Page 6



4728_Edit_3  7/31/01  12:28 PM
Reaping the Rewards of Vertical Integration

In 1990, Smithfield Foods flew 2,000 sows specially bred by Britain’s
National Pig Development Company (NPD) to the United States. Armed with
exclusive U.S. rights to their genetic lines, Smithfield envisioned that these
NPD sows would form the nucleus of a herd that was significantly leaner
than any other commercially raised hogs available. 

Six years later, Smithfield Foods and hog raising partner Carroll’s Foods
had successfully produced enough NPD hogs to launch Smithfield Lean
Generation Pork™, the first fresh pork to be certified by the American Heart
Association for its low fat, sodium and cholesterol content. In fiscal 2001, this
product’s sales volume topped 100 million pounds.

“Lean Generation is an outstanding example of why we began vertically
integrating this company,” says Smithfield Foods Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer Joseph W. Luter, III. “It has allowed us to develop
consistent, branded products that are truly different from anything else in
the marketplace. As a result, we can command a premium for fresh pork,
something that has historically been thought of as a commodity item.”

Today, Smithfield Foods produces 12 million hogs and processes 20
million annually, making it the world’s largest vertically integrated pork
processor. Through its hog raising and pork processing subsidiaries, the
company can exercise complete control over its products—from their genetic
lines and nutritional regimen to how they are processed, packaged and
delivered to customers.

  Page 7
“We like to say that vertical integration gives us control over our pork
products from squeal to meal,” observes Lewis Little, president of Smithfield
Packing Company, Smithfield Foods’ largest processing subsidiary.

The Key to Quality and Consistency
Vertical integration’s benefits are many, including less earnings volatility and
stronger operational efficiencies. However, quality and consistency—a long-
standing issue in the pork industry—has been this strategy’s Holy Grail. 

“One of the main reasons new customers give us for turning to Smithfield
Packing is the consistently high level of quality we can deliver,” says Little.
“Moreover, without that, you can’t successfully sell branded products. And our
goal is to put one of our brand names on as many of our products as
possible so that consumers look for them.”

The strategy is clearly paying off. Four years ago, branded items
accounted for a mere 13 percent of Smithfield Foods’ fresh pork volume of
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traditional cuts. The success of value-added products such as Lean
Generation, Smithfield Premium Tender ‘n Easy, John Morrell Tender N Juicy
and Gwaltney Tender Perfection have lifted that total to 40 percent.

The Right Products for Global Markets
Vertical integration’s tight control over product genetics is creating valuable
opportunities around the world. In Japan—Smithfield Foods’ largest export
market—the company’s fresh pork sales through Sumitomo Corporation of
America have climbed more than 34 percent in the past three years.
Murphy’s Carolina Imperial Pork, the latest product designed specifically for
the Japanese market, is the result of nearly three years of selective breeding.

“The Japanese are very particular about the way their pork looks,”
explains Terry Coffey, president of Murphy Farms, Inc., a longtime partner
that is now part of Smithfield Foods’ Murphy-Brown, LLC, hog farming
subsidiary. “They like pork to have more marbling and expect their product
to have more of a pink color than the U.S. consumer desires. We were able
to go all the way back to the genetics of the hog and identify the right kind
of boar that would help meet their exact specifications.”

The roughly 25,000 hogs Murphy’s North Carolina farms send to
Smithfield Packing’s Tar Heel plant weekly to make Carolina Imperial are
also fed a proprietary formula that uses less corn than is given to hogs
raised for U.S. consumption. This results in a whiter fat more pleasing to the
Japanese eye. As Coffey is quick to point out, the combination of proprietary
genetics, nutrition and the Tar Heel plant’s state-of-the-art processing
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capabilities make for a fresh pork product that cannot be duplicated.
“Smithfield Foods is better positioned than any other pork producer to

understand the needs of customers in Japan, or anywhere else in the world,
for that matter, and develop the right products to fill those needs,” he notes.

A Biography of Every Hog
With mad cow disease and foot-and-mouth disease occupying today’s
headlines, retailers and foodservice companies have made food safety one of
their top priorities when choosing meat suppliers. As a result, the ability to
furnish as much information as possible about a finished pork product’s
origins—commonly referred to as traceability—has become a valuable
competitive advantage. Thanks to vertical integration, Smithfield’s
capabilities in this area are stronger today than ever before.

“Food safety is a sensitive topic for our customers,” says Little. “Even one
incident can do a lot of damage to a store’s or restaurant’s reputation.
Fortunately, it’s a relatively easy matter for us to tell our customers where

8
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the hogs were raised for their products, what they were fed at each step
along the way and when and where they were processed.”

For much of that information, Smithfield Foods’ processing companies
rely on Murphy-Brown’s computerized process verification system. Each farm
collects and inputs data on each hog they raise, including their genetic
makeup and nutritional and medical regimens.

“We assemble a biography of every hog as it is moved from the sow farm
to the nursery to the finisher and, ultimately, to the processing plant,” says
Murphy-Brown President Jerry Godwin. “Companies that can’t offer this level
of traceability are increasingly going to find themselves at a disadvantage.”

Smoothing Out the Peaks and Valleys
Vertical integration certainly offers Wall Street something it isn’t accustomed
to from the hog production and meat packing industries: greater earnings
stability. Hog prices are, of course, well known for their historical volatility. In
the past, low prices meant that the pork processors buying them would reap
better margins from the products they sold. Conversely, higher hog prices
had a negative impact on processing margins because it was difficult to pass
higher costs along to consumers.

“By participating in both segments of the business, we’ve smoothed out a
lot of the peaks and valleys in our earnings,” explains Luter. “When hog
prices rise, our hog production group enjoys greater profitability. When they
decline, then our processing companies contribute more to the bottom line.

Page 11
This counter-cyclicality should appeal to investors. Vertical integration was
the reason that Smithfield Foods reported record results last year versus the
disappointing earnings of our competitors.” 

Luter is quick to point out, though, that any competitor contemplating
vertical integration today will find it much more difficult to accomplish than
it would have been just a few years ago. For starters, Smithfield Foods
purchased its two largest farming operations, Murphy Farms and Carroll’s
Foods, when hog prices stood at lows not seen in decades. Moreover, the
current regulatory environment would make it difficult for any pork
processor to launch a significant hog farming operation from scratch in 
the United States. 

Says Luter: “I believe that we completed our vertical integration at 
the right time. After years of patient planning, we are now extraordinarily
well positioned to benefit from our lead in genetics, our operational
efficiencies and our reputation for quality. This company’s best years 
are ahead of us.”
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Highlights From Our Family of Companies

It has been a busy and profitable year for the Smithfield Foods family of
companies in North America. Over the next few pages, we invite you to catch
up on their individual successes, exciting new product launches and the
operational enhancements that position our brands for additional growth. 

Increased sales volume of Smithfield Lean Generation Pork™, the growing
acceptance of case-ready meat and expanding processed meats margins
provided a lot of good news for Smithfield Packing Company.

“Volume for Lean Generation climbed 10 percent to 101 million pounds,”
says President Lewis Little. “Lean Generation and our other branded fresh
pork products continue to be one of our greatest points of differentiation in
the marketplace.”

The company’s case-ready offerings provide another. Case-ready sales to
Wal-Mart and other national chains soared to 52 million pounds in fiscal
2001, with Smithfield Premium Tender ’n Easy accounting for most of that
volume. Smithfield Packing launched a case-ready version of Lean
Generation during the year as well.

In processed meats, sliced bacon volume jumped 22 percent to 109
million pounds as the company continued to expand geographically.
Moreover, bacon margins almost doubled while margins on smoked ham,
smoked sausage, luncheon meats and franks climbed as well.

“I attribute our margin growth to the great strides we’ve made in
improving the quality and consistency of our products and in the operations
that produce our products, our delivery systems and marketing programs,”
says Little. “As a result, our relationships with our customers have never
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been stronger, and we are being rewarded in the marketplace.”
In retail and foodservice alike, growing demand for value-added products

drove sales at John Morrell & Co. 
“Whether you’re talking about a supermarket shopper or a restaurant

chain, everyone today wants products that reduce the effort involved in
preparing a meal,” says President Joe Sebring. “Many of the items we
introduced were designed to meet that need.”

For the retail market, new products include flavored, precooked versions
of John Morrell Tender N Juicy fresh pork, smaller packaged hams for
individual meals and Mad Platter frozen prepared pork appetizers. The
latter have made their way into foodservice channels as well. 

“We had a great year in foodservice, with sales up 20 percent,” notes
Sebring. “Our Curly’s, Iowa Quality Meats and Mohawk Packing subsidiaries
all posted solid volume gains.”
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Strong sales of smoked sausage, specialty hams and sliced and diced
hams contributed to a 6 percent increase in processed meats volume. On the
case-ready front, John Morrell sold 15 million pounds of Tender N Juicy
moisture-enhanced pork, and its case-ready facilities in Memphis and Sioux
City will be capable of producing 75 million pounds in the coming year.

Improved margins on traditional and 40% Less Fat bacon provided a lot
of the sizzle at Gwaltney of Smithfield this past year. Volume grew a
respectable five percent, but profits increased a stunning 30 percent. 

“Our bacon processing operations ran at full capacity during the past 
year, which meant that we could turn away a lot of marginal business,”
explains President Tim Seely. “We also benefited from continued gains in
brand recognition.”

Moreover, entry into all Wal-Mart SuperCenters late in the year cata-
pulted the company’s bacon presence from 28 to 40 states practically over-
night. Elsewhere, Gwaltney saw hot dog profits climb 12 percent and enjoyed
a 40 percent increase in volume of spiral-sliced, bone-in smoked hams.

The company’s precooked meats business enjoyed great success as it
expanded its presence in retail markets. Gwaltney now produces Members
Mark precooked pot roast for Sam’s Clubs and continues the roll-out of
precooked beef pot roast, beef tips, pork roast and meatloaf under the
Gwaltney and Valleydale labels. 

“All these items are ready to serve in seven minutes or less,” says Seely.
“The practice of cooking from scratch in the home will continue to diminish,

Page 15
and we’re well positioned to benefit from that trend.” 
Turning to fresh pork, sales volume of moisture-enhanced Gwaltney

Tender Perfection jumped 23 percent thanks to growing popularity in the
supermarket meat case and among foodservice customers. Sales of seasoned
and marinated versions climbed 70 percent during the year.

Schneiders, one of Canada’s most trusted brands, finished the year with
record market shares in wieners, sliced luncheon meats and lunchkits. The
company also enjoyed significant volume gains in value-added processed
meats, bakery products and poultry. This success led Schneiders to double the
capacity of its bakery operations, and the company similarly expanded
capacity at its Gallant Foods subsidiary to support the growth of its value-
added fresh poultry business.

“In addition, a new plant strategically situated in Saskatoon has begun
producing products for Schneiders and our Mitchell’s Gourmet Foods sub-
sidiary and will improve distribution for both,” notes President Doug Dodds.

The company’s array of new products include case-ready poultry,
Ristorante frozen “restaurant quality” entrees and Zapp’ems frozen
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microwaveable entrees. The company also introduced flavor extensions to
the popular Juicy Jumbos line of premium hot dogs and launched two new
Lunchmate product lines in the fast-growing lunchkits category. 

Dodds has high hopes for the company’s newest product, Schneiders Hot
Stuffs. Frozen, hand-held pocket-style entrees, they are available in 10
flavors such as Chicken Caesar, Italian Sausage and Meatballs & Mozzarella.

“Hot Stuffs are more nutritious than the usual fare, have more interesting
flavors and are made with a soft bread crust that stands up to quick
microwave cooking,” he says. “The response from supermarkets indicates
that Hot Stuffs may be our most successful product launch ever. Every major
chain in Canada will have them in the freezer case.”

Convenience has certainly been one of the key factors driving Patrick
Cudahy’s success. The company enjoyed double-digit volume gains in
precooked bacon, precooked pork sausage and sliced meats, not to mention
its other core categories. In fact, Patrick Cudahy enjoyed its best year since
joining Smithfield Foods in 1985, with revenue climbing almost 
25 percent and volume up 9 percent.

“Precooked and presliced items, such as our Portion Perfect line of meats,
have been a huge foodservice success,” notes President Roger Kapella. “They
take a lot of time out of the preparation process.”

In the supermarket case, sales of precooked bacon jumped 15 percent,
while sales of the company’s Heat & Eat line of precooked sausage links,
sausage patties and meatballs increased 25 percent. Sliced ham and turkey
breast, recently added to the La Abuelita line of products for U.S. Hispanic
consumers, also performed well. In the coming year, the company plans to
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expand its dry sausage and processed ham offerings substantially and lever-
age its role as the originator of Sweet Apple-Wood Smoke Flavor products.

North Side Foods continues to be a leading supplier of precooked
sausage and other pork products to over 4,500 McDonald’s Restaurants in
North America. In addition, the company has expanded its Ember Farms line
of precooked sausage links and patties for foodservice customers. 

“Preparation time, convenience and food safety are becoming more of an
issue each year to our customers,” notes North Side Foods President Robbie
Hofmann. “Our ability to capitalize on these issues with our strength in
precooked products enabled a 14 percent increase in total sales.”

Krakus Foods International, the largest U.S. importer and seller of
Polish hams, enjoyed 7 percent growth in its core markets. The company
continued to capitalize on the Krakus reputation for quality by introducing
new items from Poland, including a honey ham and smoked honey ham, as
well as domestically produced kielbasa and ham steak. Sliced, pre-packaged
meats are the fastest growing segment of the business, and the company has
targeted double-digit growth overall in the coming year.
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A Sound Approach to the Environment

In the following conversation, Chairman, President and CEO Joseph W. Luter,
III, discusses the environmental lead Smithfield Foods has taken in hog
raising and pork processing and clears up a few misconceptions.

Q: Smithfield Foods presented its first Environmental Excellence Awards this
year. What were some of the winners’ accomplishments?
A: There are many I could mention. For example, employees at the John
Morrell processing facility in Sioux Falls began recovering methane gas
generated by sewage and burning it for steam. As a result, the site reduced
its emission of greenhouse gases by about 1,400 tons last year. Patrick
Cudahy’s processing facility is extracting grease from wastewater and
burning it as an alternative fuel. This has lowered use of fossil fuels, reduced
sulfur emissions and cut down on solid waste. 

Q: We’ve heard a lot about Smithfield Foods’ recent environmental
initiatives. Is this new for the company?
A: In 1997, we developed an “official” Corporate Environmental Policy
Statement, but environmental stewardship has always been important to us.
For example, Smithfield Packing Company’s processing facility in Tar Heel,
North Carolina, installed a state-of-the-art water reuse system in 1995 that
reduces groundwater consumption by over 260 million gallons annually.
More recently, our Kinston plant has reduced water usage and wastewater

Page 19
discharge by almost 200,000 gallons per day. 

Q: The traditional method of collecting hog waste in anaerobic lagoons 
has come under attack recently. Are lagoons a danger to the environment?
A: Actually, the lagoon-and-sprayfield method has been used for
generations to treat animal waste. Simply stated, it is organic farming.
Lagoons capture, treat and store virtually all of the swine waste produced 
on our farms. Once the waste has broken down, we then use the remaining
effluent to fertilize surrounding pasture areas and cropland. It is an
extremely efficient system, and it’s the ultimate in recycling.

Q: What about claims by environmental activists that hog farming in North
Carolina is polluting the state’s waters?
A: We believe that the data does not support the claims being made by
activists. A variety of factors influence river and groundwater quality. Much of
the evidence seems to point to sources other than hog farming. In fact, some
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of the rivers that run right through “hog country” have been cited as among
the cleanest in the state.

Q: Wouldn’t free-range hog farming be more environmentally friendly?
A: Hardly. Farms that allowed hogs to roam freely on their grounds would
have untreated manure flushed to drainages and creeks each time it rained.
Then animal waste would run into the nation’s waterways. Free range farms
would also require roughly 14 million acres of land to raise enough hogs for
the $34 billion worth of pork products purchased in the United States in
2000. Current methods use a fraction of that space, allowing land to be
preserved for other agricultural uses or for wetlands and woodlands.

Q: Smithfield Foods is investing $15 million on waste management research
at North Carolina State University. What can you tell us about this initiative? 
A: It’s part of a pact we forged with the state of North Carolina in August
2000. Our partnership with N.C. State will research and attempt to identify
an environmentally superior and commercially feasible alternative to
lagoons and sprayfields. I believe that 12 different technologies are being
tested. We’ve agreed to adopt this technology, if and when it becomes
available on an economically feasible basis, on all our company-owned hog
farms. Of course, any new technology will have implications for the entire
hog raising industry, not just Smithfield Foods. Keep in mind, though, that
there is no silver bullet that will make all the lagoons disappear overnight.

Q: You have also contributed $50 million to fund environmental

4728_Edit_3  7/31/01  12:29 PM  Page 20
enhancement programs in North Carolina. What form will they take?
A: That’s another part of the same agreement. The state will use this money
in a variety of ways. For example, it can purchase buffer land around rivers
and other waterways. Another facet of the agreement, and one we will
continue to support, is the effort to protect North Carolina’s Albermarle-
Pamlico Sound estuary system. 

Q: In March 2001, Carroll’s Foods became the first Smithfield Foods
subsidiary—and the world’s first livestock operation of any kind—to
receive ISO 14001 certification for its farms. Why is this important?
A: Certification by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO),
which is based in Switzerland, is official recognition that a company has a
state-of-the-art environmental management system in place. We expect
Murphy Farms and Brown’s of Carolina to be certified by the end of 2001.
Within the next 24 months, we will expand our efforts to include all of
Smithfield Foods’ North American operations.
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Financial Summary
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FISCAL YEARS (DOLLARS AND SHARES IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2001 2000 1999

Operations:
Sales $5,899,927 $5,150,469 $3,774,989
Gross profit 948,903 694,066 539,575

Selling, general and administrative expenses 450,965 390,634 295,610
Interest expense 88,974 71,944 40,521
Income from continuing operations before change in

accounting principle for income taxes 1 223,513 75,112 94,884
Net income 223,513 75,112 94,884

Per Diluted Share:

Income from continuing operations before change in

accounting principle for income taxes 1 $ 4.06 $ 1.52 $ 2.32
Net income 4.06 1.52 2.32
Book value 20.09 16.41 12.93
Weighted average shares outstanding 55,073 49,386 40,962
Financial Position:
Working capital $ 635,413 $ 609,857 $ 215,865
Total assets 3,250,888 3,129,613 1,771,614
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,146,223 1,187,770 594,241
Shareholders’ equity 1,053,132 902,909 542,246

Financial Ratios:
Current ratio 2.01 1.98 1.46
Long-term debt to total capitalization 52.1% 56.8% 52.3%
Return on average shareholders’ equity 2 18.4% 10.4% 21.0%
EBITDA 3 $ 509,735 $ 310,895 $ 252,525
22

Other Information:
Capital expenditures $ 144,120 $ 100,383 $ 95,447
Depreciation expense 124,836 109,893 63,524
Common shareholders of record 1,345 1,514 1,230
Number of employees 34,000 36,500 33,000

1 FISCAL 1993 NET INCOME AND NET INCOME PER DILUTED SHARE INCREASED $1.1 MILLION AND $.03, RESPECTIVELY, FOR A CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE FOR INCOME TAXES.

2 COMPUTED USING INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE. THE FISCAL 2001 COMPUTATION EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINS FROM THE SALE

OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSES, AND THE SALE OF A PLANT.

3 EBITDA IS COMPUTED USING INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INCOME TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION.

THE FISCAL 2001 COMPUTATION EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINS FROM THE SALE OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSE, AND THE SALE OF A PLANT.
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1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

$3,867,442 $3,870,611 $2,383,893 $1,526,518 $1,403,485 $1,113,712 $1,036,613
387,813 323,795 181,781 146,275 117,616 77,241 88,169
219,861 191,225 103,095 61,723 50,738 42,924 40,065

31,891 26,211 20,942 14,054 11,605 6,183 3,903

53,400 44,937 19,786 31,915 19,319 3,271 21,824
53,400 44,937 15,886 27,840 19,702 3,989 21,635
$ 1.34 $ 1.17 $ .53 $ .92 $ .55 $ .09 $ .69
1.34 1.17 .42 .80 .56 .11 .68
9.66 8.25 7.16 5.91 4.71 4.16 3.77

39,732 38,558 35,000 33,923 33,697 33,395 31,626
$ 259,188 $ 164,312 $ 88,026 $ 60,911 $ 81,529 $ 64,671 $ 26,672
1,083,645 995,254 857,619 550,225 452,279 399,567 277,685

407,272 288,486 188,618 155,047 118,942 124,517 49,091
361,010 307,486 242,516 184,015 154,950 135,770 113,754

2.03 1.51 1.26 1.35 1.56 1.57 1.27
53.0% 48.4% 41.8% 44.4% 41.9% 46.1% 30.1%
16.0% 15.9% 8.7% 18.4% 12.8% 2.3% 23.6%

$ 158,725 $ 132,945 $ 79,492 $ 86,619 $ 66,550 $ 31,199 $ 50,506
23

$ 92,913 $ 69,147 $ 74,888 $ 90,550 $ 25,241 $ 87,992 $ 74,793
42,300 35,825 25,979 19,717 21,327 18,418 12,630
1,143 1,189 1,342 1,571 1,796 1,867 1,544

19,700 17,500 16,300 9,000 8,000 7,000 5,400
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General This discussion of management’s views on the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Smithfield Foods, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’) is comprised of a Meat Processing Group (‘‘MPG’’)
and a Hog Production Group (‘‘HPG’’). The MPG consists primarily of five wholly owned domestic
pork processing subsidiaries and four international meat processing entities. The HPG consists
primarily of three hog production operations located in the U.S. and certain joint venture
investments outside the U.S.

Acquisitions Several acquisitions affect the comparability of the results of operations for fiscal year 2001,
2000 and 1999 including the following:

In the Company’s third quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company’s Schneider Corporation
(‘‘Schneider’’) subsidiary increased its investment in Saskatchewan-based Mitchell’s Gourmet
Foods Inc. (‘‘Mitchell’s’’) to 54%, requiring the Company to consolidate Mitchell’s accounts and
to discontinue using the equity method of accounting for Mitchell’s. The impact of including
Mitchell’s in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of April 29, 2001 was to increase total assets
$87.3 million and long-term debt $10.4 million. For the fiscal year ended October 2000,
Mitchell’s had annual sales of approximately $190 million.

In January of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Murphy Farms, Inc.
(‘‘Murphy’’) and its affiliated companies for 11.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock
(subject to post-closing adjustments) and the assumption of approximately $203.0 million
in debt, plus other liabilities. Murphy is a hog producer with approximately 345,000 sows that
produce approximately 6.1 million market hogs annually.

In May of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Carroll’s Foods, Inc.
(‘‘Carroll’s’’) and its affiliated companies and partnership interests for 4.3 million shares of the
Company’s common stock and the assumption of approximately $231.0 million in debt, plus
other liabilities. Carroll’s U.S. hog production operations include approximately 180,000 sows
that produce approximately 3.5 million market hogs annually. The acquisition also included
Carroll’s 50% interest in Tar Heel Turkey Hatchery, 100% of Carroll’s turkey grow-out
operations, Carroll’s 49% interest in Carolina Turkeys and certain hog production interests
in Brazil and Mexico.

In August of fiscal 2000, the Company acquired the capital stock of Société Financière
de Gestion et de Participation S.A. (‘‘SFGP’’), a private-label processed meats manufacturer

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Sales 
IN MILLIONS 

2001
2000
1999
1998
1997

 $5,900
$5,150

$3,775
$3,867
$3,871
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in France. Prior to the acquisition, SFGP had annual sales of approximately $100 million.
In November of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired 63% of the total equity of Schneider,

in exchange for approximately 2.5 million Exchangeable Shares of Smithfield Canada Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Schneider produces and markets fresh pork and
a full line of processed meats and is the second largest meat processing company in Canada.
Prior to the acquisition, Schneider had annual sales of approximately $550 million.

In April of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired a 67% interest in Animex S.A. (‘‘Animex’’),
a major meat and poultry processing company in Poland. During fiscal 2000, the Company
increased its ownership in Animex to 85% of total equity. Prior to the acquisition, Animex had
annual sales of approximately $400 million.

In September of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Société
Bretonne de Salaisons (‘‘SBS’’), the largest private-label manufacturer of ham, pork shoulder
and bacon products in France. Prior to the acquisition, SBS had annual sales of approximately
$100 million.

In June of fiscal 1999, the Company increased its ownership in the Circle Four hog
production operation from 37% to 84%, requiring the Company to consolidate Circle Four’s
accounts. Prior to June of fiscal 1999, Circle Four was accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. As a result of the acquisition of Carroll’s in May of fiscal 2000, Circle Four
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

In October of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the assets and business of
North Side Foods Corp. (‘‘North Side’’), a major domestic supplier of precooked sausage
to McDonald’s Corporation. Prior to the acquisition, North Side had annual sales of
approximately $60 million.

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
and accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial
position and results of operations from the dates of acquisition.

Results of Operations Consolidated

Fiscal 2001 Compared to Fiscal 2000
Sales in fiscal 2001 increased by $749.5 million, or 14.6%. The increase in sales reflected

a 12.0% increase in unit selling prices in the MPG and the incremental sales of businesses
acquired in fiscal 2001 and 2000. See the following sections for comments on sales changes
by business segment.

Gross profit in fiscal 2001 increased $254.8 million, or 36.7%, primarily the result of the
inclusion of Murphy, sharply improved margins in the HPG due to higher live hog prices and
higher margins in the MPG. Higher MPG margins are the result of more favorable product mix
and increased focus on margin improvement.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $60.3 million, or 15.4%, primarily
on the inclusion of selling, general and administrative expenses of acquired businesses,
increased promotion of processed meats, expenses related to the attempted merger with IBP,
inc. (‘‘IBP’’) and expenses on the subsequent sale of the common stock of IBP. Also in fiscal
2001
2000
1999
1998
1997

16.1%
13.5%

14.3%
10.0%

8.4%

Gross Profit Percentage

25



Name /smithfield/4455       

26
 08/01/2001 03:18PM     Plate # 0-comp pg 26   # 6

2001, the Company recognized a $5.1 million gain on the sale of a plant in Canada that is
reported in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Depreciation expense increased $14.9 million, or 13.6%, in fiscal 2001 compared to fiscal
2000, primarily related to the inclusion of the depreciation expense of acquired businesses
and increased depreciation expense in the existing business reflecting capital expenditures
to increase processed meats, case-ready and other value-added fresh pork capacities.

Interest expense increased $17.0 million, or 23.7%, in fiscal 2001 compared to fiscal
2000. The increase is primarily due to the inclusion of interest expense on assumed debt of
acquired businesses, additional borrowings associated with the Company’s investment in
the common stock of IBP and the share repurchase program, partially offset by lower average
borrowing costs.

In fiscal 2001, the Company sold 8.2 million shares of IBP common stock resulting in
a nonrecurring, pretax gain of $79.0 million.

The effective income tax rate was 37.4% for fiscal 2001 and 2000. The Company had
a valuation allowance of $20.2 million and $5.3 million related to income tax assets as
of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, respectively, primarily related to losses in foreign
jurisdictions for which no tax benefit was recognized.

Reflecting the factors previously discussed, net income increased to $223.5 million, or
$4.06 per diluted share, in fiscal 2001 up from $75.1 million, or $1.52 per diluted share,
in fiscal 2000. Excluding the gain on the sale of IBP common stock and the plant in Canada,
net of related expenses and income taxes, net income increased to $174.9 million, or
$3.18 per diluted share. Earnings per diluted share was also affected by the issuance of shares
in connection with the acquisition of Murphy in fiscal 2000 and the retirement of shares under
the Company’s share repurchase program in fiscal 2001 and 2000.

Fiscal 2000 Compared to Fiscal 1999
Sales in fiscal 2000 increased $1.4 billion, or 36.4%, from fiscal 1999. The increase in sales

was primarily attributable to the incremental sales of businesses acquired in fiscal 2000 and
1999 and an increase in both average unit selling prices and processed meats volume in the
base business. See the following sections for comments on sales changes by business segment.

Gross profit in fiscal 2000 increased $154.5 million, or 28.6%, primarily the result of
the inclusion of acquired businesses in the HPG where margins improved sharply due to higher
live hog prices which were partially offset by expenses related to the implementation of food
safety programs at Company facilities in the MPG and lost production due to the aftereffects
of Hurricane Floyd. Fiscal 2000 margins were also favorably impacted by commodity hedging
gains in the HPG. Excluding acquisitions, gross profit in the base business, which was more
heavily weighted to the MPG, declined as a result of the same higher live hog prices which
reduced fresh pork and processed meats margins.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $95.0 million, or 32.1%, primarily
on the inclusion of selling, general and administrative expenses of acquired businesses. In the
base business, costs increased primarily due to higher advertising and promotion expenses to
market branded fresh pork and processed meats.
2001
2000
1999
1998
1997

$510*
$311

$253
$159

$133

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)
IN MILLIONS

*EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINS FROM THE SALE OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSES, AND THE SALE OF A PLANT
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Depreciation expense increased $46.4 million, or 73.0%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal
1999 primarily related to the inclusion of the depreciation expense of acquired businesses
and increased depreciation expense in the base business on processed meats expansion and
information systems projects.

Interest expense increased $31.4 million, or 77.5%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999
reflecting the inclusion of the interest expense on assumed debt of the acquired businesses,
the cost of borrowings to finance additional investments and higher interest rates.

The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2000 increased to 37.4% compared to 33.9% in
fiscal 1999 primarily on the inclusion of foreign earnings which are taxed at higher rates.
The Company had a valuation allowance of $5.3 million related to income tax assets as of
April 30, 2000 primarily related to losses in foreign jurisdictions for which no tax benefit was
recognized. At May 2, 1999, the Company had no valuation allowances for deferred tax assets.

Reflecting the factors previously discussed, net income decreased to $75.1 million, or
$1.52 per diluted share, in fiscal 2000 down from $94.9 million, or $2.32 per diluted share,
in fiscal 1999. Earnings per diluted share was also affected by the issuance of shares in
connection with business acquisitions and the retirement of shares under the Company’s share
repurchase program in fiscal 2000.

Meat Processing Group

Fiscal 2001 Compared to Fiscal 2000
MPG sales in fiscal 2001 increased $600.6 million, or 12.0%, on a significant increase in

unit selling prices and the inclusion of the sales of businesses acquired. The unit selling price
increase was primarily attributable to higher live hog costs and a greater proportion of
branded and value-added fresh pork in the sales mix. In fiscal 2001, fresh pork volume
increased 2.2%, primarily on branded fresh pork and case-ready while processed meats
volume remained relatively flat. Sales volume of other products (primarily by-products)
decreased 5.5%. Excluding acquired businesses, sales volume decreased 2.1%, the result
of a 3.9% decrease in processed meats volume partially offset by a 0.8% increase in fresh
pork volume. Sales volume decreases in processed meats in the base business reflect the
elimination of certain lower margin business due in part to plant closures in Poland and
the U.S. These decreases were partially offset by the inclusion of the sales volume of Mitchell’s
and SFGP.

Operating profit in the MPG increased to $135.2 million in fiscal 2001 from $122.9 million,
the result of sharply higher margins on processed meats partially offset by lower margins
on fresh pork. Margins in processed meats reflected better pricing, lower production costs and
improved product mix. Fresh pork margins were down, largely the result of higher live hog
costs which were partially offset by an improved product mix resulting from the growth in
the branded, value-added and case-ready categories. MPG operating profit also increased due
to a $5.1 million gain on the sale of a plant in Canada and the incremental operating profit
from acquired businesses.
2001
2000
1999
1998
1997

$3.18*
$1.52

$2.32
$1.34

$1.17

Net Income Per Diluted Share
*EXCLUDES NONRECURRING GAINS FROM THE SALE OF IBP, INC. COMMON STOCK, LESS RELATED EXPENSES AND INCOME TAXES, 

  AND THE SALE OF A PLANT
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Fiscal 2000 Compared to Fiscal 1999
MPG sales in fiscal 2000 increased $1.3 billion, or 33.6%, from fiscal 1999. The increase

in sales was primarily attributable to the incremental sales from businesses acquired
in fiscal 2000 and 1999 and an increase in both average unit selling prices and processed
meats volume in the base business. For fiscal 2000, processed meats and fresh pork volume
increased 36.5% and 3.7%, respectively, on incremental volume of acquired businesses.
In addition, unit selling prices increased 14.0% due to higher live hog costs and a greater
proportion of value-added processed meats in the sales mix. Excluding acquired businesses,
processed meats volume increased 6.0% which was offset by a 6.2% decrease in fresh
pork volume. Fresh pork volume decreased as the Company reduced slaughter levels as a
result of sharply lower fresh pork margins compared with the prior year.

Operating profit in the MPG decreased to $122.9 million in fiscal 2000 from $253.8, the
result of sharply lower margins on fresh pork partially offset by the incremental operating
profit generated in acquired businesses. In addition, increased spending in the base business
on the market expansion of fresh pork and processed meats brands, the implementation
of food safety programs at Company facilities and lost production due to the aftereffects of
Hurricane Floyd also contributed to lower operating profit.

Hog Production Group

Fiscal 2001 Compared to Fiscal 2000
HPG sales increased sharply in fiscal 2001 to $1.2 billion from $735.3 million due to the

inclusion of a full year of the sales of Murphy compared to only four months in fiscal 2000.
HPG sales also benefited from a 10.5% increase in live hog prices in the base business.
With the acquisition of Murphy in fiscal 2000, hogs sold in fiscal 2001 increased to 11.8 million
from 7.7 million in the comparable period in fiscal 2000. Intersegment sales to the MPG are
eliminated in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Operating profit in the HPG improved to $281.3 million compared to $99.6 million in
fiscal 2000 primarily as a result of sharply higher live hog prices, relatively stable grain costs
and increased volume from the Murphy acquisition. In addition, the HPG realized cost savings
on production efficiencies between the hog production units and the MPG plants.

Fiscal 2000 Compared to Fiscal 1999
HPG sales increased sharply in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 as a result of the

inclusion of the sales of Murphy and Carroll’s and a 27.9% increase in live hog prices.
With the acquisition of Carroll’s and Murphy, hogs sold in fiscal 2000 more than doubled
in the comparable period in fiscal 1999.

Operating profit in the HPG improved to $99.6 million compared to a loss of $46.1 million
in fiscal 1999 primarily as a result of a sharp increase in hog prices from their historic lows
in fiscal 1999 and the impact of selling significantly more hogs at substantially better margins
in the current year. The operating profit was partially offset by the aftereffects of Hurricane
Floyd on the hog production operations on the East Coast of the U.S. In addition, operating
profit benefited from favorable commodity hedging contracts.
Total Assets
IN MILLIONS

2001
2000
1999
1998
1997

$3,251
$3,130

$1,772
$1,084

$995
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2001 52.1%
$2,199

Liquidity and
Capital Resources

The pork processing industry is characterized by high sales tonnage and rapid turnover
of inventories and accounts receivable. Because of the rapid turnover rate, the Company
considers its pork processing inventories and accounts receivable highly liquid and readily
convertible into cash. Borrowings under the Company’s credit facilities are used to finance
increases in the levels of inventories and accounts receivable resulting from seasonal and other
market-related fluctuations in raw material costs. The demand for seasonal borrowings usually
peaks in early November when inventories are at their highest levels, and borrowings are
repaid in January when the related accounts receivable are collected.

Cash provided by operations increased to $218.3 million for fiscal 2001 from $125.2
million in fiscal 2000. This increase is primarily attributed to the impact of sharply higher
earnings, net of a gain on the sale of IBP common stock. Cash used in operating assets
and liabilities was $56.4 million in fiscal 2001 compared to $79.5 million in fiscal 2000
primarily due to less cash deposited for commodity hedging commitments.

In fiscal 2001, cash used in investing activities was $59.8 million compared to $192.3
million in fiscal 2000. The decrease is primarily due to proceeds from the sale of IBP common
stock less the cost of shares purchased during fiscal 2001 compared to the cost of IBP shares
purchased in fiscal 2000. Capital expenditures totaled $144.1 million related to fresh pork
and processed meats expansion projects and plant improvements. During fiscal 2001,
the Company invested $29.7 million in business acquisitions, primarily Mitchell’s. In addition,
the Company had proceeds of $38.9 million during fiscal 2001 from the sale of property,
plant and equipment primarily the result of the sale of a plant in Canada. As of April 29,
2001, the Company had definitive commitments of $105.0 million for capital expenditures
primarily for processed meats expansion, production efficiency projects and additional
hog production facilities in Utah.

Financing activities used $152.4 million in fiscal 2001 as funds provided by operations
and the sale of IBP common stock were used to repay long-term debt and capital lease
obligations as well as repurchase 2.6 million shares of the Company’s common stock. As of
April 29, 2001, the Company had acquired 5.6 million shares of its common stock under
an 8.0 million share repurchase program. As of April 29, 2001, the Company had unused
availability of $219.4 million under its primary long-term credit facility. Management believes
that through internally generated funds and access to global credit markets, funds are
available to adequately meet the Company’s current and future operating and capital needs.

Subsequent Events On June 22, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of Moyer Packing Company
(‘‘Moyer’’), a closely held beef processor with annual sales of approximately $600.0 million
for $89.5 million and the assumption of debt. Moyer is the ninth largest beef processor
in the U.S. and the largest in the Eastern United States. Operations include beef processing,
fabrication and further processing, as well as hide processing and rendering operations.

The Company has announced an offer to acquire all of the common shares of Schneider
that it does not already own for approximately 1.4 million shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Company expects to complete the tender offer during the second quarter of
fiscal 2002.
2000

1999

1998

1997 48.4%

53.0%

52.3%

56.8%

$596

$768

$1,136

$2,091

Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations to Total Capitalization
IN MILLIONS                   LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPTIAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS                  TOTAL CAPITALIZATION
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Risk Management Substantially all of the Company’s products are produced from commodity-based raw
materials, corn and soybean meal in the HPG and live hogs in the MPG. The cost of corn and
soybean meal (the principal feed ingredients for hogs) and live hogs are subject to wide
fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as weather conditions, economic conditions,
government regulation and other unforeseen circumstances. The Company utilizes futures
and option contracts for live hogs and grains to manage hog production margins when
management determines the conditions are appropriate for such hedges. The particular
hedging methods employed and the time periods for the contracts depend on a number of
factors, including the availability of adequate contracts for the respective periods for the
hedge. The Company attempts to closely match the commodity contract expiration periods
with the dates for product sale and delivery. The pricing of the Company’s fresh pork and
processed meats is monitored and adjusted upward and downward in reaction to changes
in the cost of the underlying raw materials. The unpredictability of the raw material costs
limits the Company’s ability to forward price fresh pork and processed meat products without
the use of commodity contracts through a program of price-risk management. The Company
uses price-risk management techniques to enhance its ability to engage in forward sales
contracts, where prices for future deliveries are fixed, by purchasing (or selling) commodity
contracts for future periods to reduce or eliminate the effect of fluctuations in future raw
material costs on the profitability of the related sales. While this may tend to limit the
Company’s ability to participate in gains from favorable commodity price fluctuation, it also
tends to reduce the risk of loss from adverse changes in raw material prices. As of April 29,
2001, the Company had a deferred loss of $20.8 million compared to a deferred loss on
outstanding futures contracts of $41.3 million at April 30, 2000. As of April 29, 2001 and
April 30, 2000, the Company had open futures contracts with contract values of $251.4 million
and $711.7 million, respectively. As of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, the Company had
deposits with brokers for outstanding futures contracts of $23.3 million and $45.1 million,
respectively, included in prepaid expenses and other current assets. For open futures contracts,
the Company uses a sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the effect that changes
in the market value of commodities will have on these commodity derivative instruments.
As of April 29, 2001, the potential change in fair value of open future contracts, assuming
a 10% change in the underlying commodity price, was $14.7 million.

Forward-Looking Information This report contains ‘‘forward-looking’’ information within the meaning of the federal
securities laws. The forward-looking information includes statements concerning the
Company’s outlook for the future, as well as other statements of beliefs, future plans and
strategies or anticipated events, and similar expressions concerning matters that are

not historical facts. Forward-looking information and statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
in, or implied by, the statements. These risks and uncertainties include the ability to make
effective acquisitions and successfully integrate newly acquired businesses into existing
operations, the availability and prices of live hogs, raw materials and supplies, livestock
disease, live hog production costs, product pricing, the competitive environment and related
market conditions, operating efficiencies, access to capital, the cost of compliance with
environmental and health standards, adverse results from on-going litigation and actions
of domestic and foreign governments.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2001 2000 1999

Sales $5,899,927 $5,150,469 $3,774,989
Cost of sales 4,951,024 4,456,403 3,235,414
Gross profit 948,903 694,066 539,575

Selling, general and administrative expenses 450,965 390,634 295,610
Depreciation expense 124,836 109,893 63,524
Interest expense 88,974 71,944 40,521
Minority interests 5,829 1,608 (3,518)
Gain on sale of IBP, inc. common stock (See Note 11) (79,019) — —

Income before income taxes 357,318 119,987 143,438
31

Income taxes 133,805 44,875 48,554

Net income $ 223,513 $ 75,112 $ 94,884

Net income per basic common share $ 4.13 $ 1.54 $ 2.39

Net income per diluted common share $ 4.06 $ 1.52 $ 2.32

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS ENDED (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA) APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 56,532 $ 49,882
Accounts receivable less allowances of $6,392 and $4,899 387,841 390,037
Inventories 729,167 665,143
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 90,155 127,664

Total current assets 1,263,695 1,232,726

Property, plant and equipment:
Land 76,100 73,753
Buildings and improvements 711,124 666,428
Machinery and equipment 855,838 732,217
Breeding stock 94,286 100,576
Construction in progress 59,307 39,069

1,796,655 1,612,043
Less accumulated depreciation (522,178) (398,469)

Net property, plant and equipment 1,274,477 1,213,574

Other assets:
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $18,925 and $8,695 347,342 320,148
Investments in partnerships 88,092 102,551
Other 277,282 260,614
32

Total other assets 712,716 683,313

$3,250,888 $3,129,613

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Notes payable $ 35,504 $ 64,924
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 79,590 48,505
Accounts payable 278,093 270,004
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 235,095 239,436

Total current liabilities 628,282 622,869

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,146,223 1,187,770

Other noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 271,516 274,329
Pension and postretirement benefits 77,520 78,656
Other 25,820 30,311

Total other noncurrent liabilities 374,856 383,296

Minority interests 48,395 32,769

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, 1,000,000 authorized shares — —
33

Common stock, $.50 par value, 100,000,000 authorized shares;
52,502,951 and 54,705,386 issued and outstanding 26,251 27,353

Additional paid-in capital 405,665 473,974
Retained earnings 638,779 415,266
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (17,563) (13,684)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,053,132 902,909

$3,250,888 $3,129,613
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS (IN THOUSANDS) 2001 2000 1999

Operating activities:
Net income $ 223,513 $ 75,112 $ 94,884
Depreciation and amortization 140,050 118,964 68,566
Deferred income taxes (7,151) 13,227 20,737
Gain on sale of IBP, inc. common stock (79,019) — —
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (2,714) (2,591) (138)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable (4,640) (7,192) 954
Inventories (51,169) (35,976) (17,680)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 29,799 (44,501) (2,225)
Other assets (14,276) 2,153 (55,563)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities (16,111) 6,022 13,849

Net cash provided by operating activities 218,282 125,218 123,384

Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (144,120) (100,383) (95,447)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (29,725) (34,596) (151,223)
Proceeds from sale of IBP, inc. common stock 224,451 — —
Investments in IBP, inc. common stock (147,352) (51,479) —
Investments in partnerships and other assets (2,013) (11,810) (16,206)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 38,920 6,018 991
Net cash used in investing activities (59,839) (192,250) (261,885)

Financing activities:
Net (repayments) borrowings on notes payable (39,676) (249,393) 24,182
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 31,009 269,041 22,948
Net borrowings on long-term credit facility 12,000 324,000 71,000
Principal payments on long-term debt and capital

lease obligations (86,286) (187,632) (21,754)
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (77,768) (73,145) —
Exercise of common stock options 8,357 4,121 12,155
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (152,364) 86,992 108,531

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,079 19,960 (29,970)
Effect of currency exchange rates on cash 571 (668) 38
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 49,882 30,590 60,522
34

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 56,532 $ 49,882 $ 30,590

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amount capitalized $ 104,362 $ 79,780 $ 37,696

Income taxes paid $ 126,224 $ 30,315 $ 15,306

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued for acquisitions $ — $ 369,407 $ 73,049

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(IN THOUSANDS)

COMMON STOCK

SHARES PAR VALUE

ADDITIONAL

PAID-IN CAPITAL

RETAINED

EARNINGS

ACCUMULATED

OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (LOSS) TOTAL

Balance, May 3, 1998 37,537 $18,769 $ 96,971 $245,270 $ — $ 361,010
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 94,884 — 94,884
Unrealized gain on securities — — — — 1,372 1,372
Foreign currency translation — — — — 2,960 2,960
Minimum pension liability — — — — (3,184) (3,184)

Total comprehensive income 96,032
Common stock issued 2,986 1,493 71,556 — — 73,049
Exercise of stock options 1,324 662 11,493 — — 12,155
Balance, May 2, 1999 41,847 20,924 180,020 340,154 1,148 542,246
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 75,112 — 75,112
Unrealized loss on securities — — — — (3,882) (3,882)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (6,561) (6,561)
Minimum pension liability — — — — (4,389) (4,389)

Total comprehensive income 60,280
Common stock issued 15,604 7,802 361,605 — — 369,407
Exercise of stock options 232 116 4,005 — — 4,121
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock (2,978) (1,489) (71,656) — — (73,145)
Balance, April 30, 2000 54,705 27,353 473,974 415,266 (13,684) 902,909
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 223,513 — 223,513
Unrealized gain on securities — — — — 45,899 45,899
35

Reclassification adjustment for gains
included in net income — — — — (45,200) (45,200)

Foreign currency translation — — — — (3,167) (3,167)
Minimum pension liability — — — — (1,411) (1,411)

Total comprehensive income 219,634
Exercise of stock options 425 212 8,145 — — 8,357
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock (2,627) (1,314) (76,454) — — (77,768)
Balance, April 29, 2001 52,503 $26,251 $405,665 $638,779 $(17,563) $1,053,132

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 1
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Nature of Business
Smithfield Foods, Inc. and subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’) is comprised of a Meat Processing
Group (the ‘‘MPG’’) and a Hog Production Group (the ‘‘HPG’’). The MPG consists primarily
of five wholly owned domestic pork processing subsidiaries and four international meat
processing entities. The HPG consists primarily of three domestic hog production operations
and certain international joint ventures.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
after elimination of all material intercompany balances and transactions. Investments in
partnerships are recorded using the equity method of accounting.

Management uses estimates and assumptions in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
U.S. that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company’s fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Sunday nearest
April 30. Fiscal 2001, 2000 and 1999 were all 52 weeks long.

Foreign Currency Translation
For foreign operations, the local foreign currency is the functional currency. Assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-ending exchange rate. Statement of
income amounts are translated to U.S. dollars using average exchange rates during the
period. Translation gains and losses are reported as a component of other comprehensive
income in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign transactions are included
in current earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or
less to be cash equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates market value.
As of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, cash and cash equivalents include $2,670 and $200,
respectively, in short-term marketable securities.

Inventories

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES / (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
36

Inventories are valued at the lower of first-in, first-out cost or market. Cost includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing and production overhead. Inventories consist of the
following:

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Hogs on farms $331,060 $323,639
Fresh and processed meats 316,929 264,479
Manufacturing supplies 60,823 55,937
Other 20,355 21,088

$729,167 $665,143
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Financial Instruments
The Company uses commodity hedging instruments, including futures and options, to reduce
the risk of price fluctuations related to future raw material requirements and product sales.
The terms of such instruments generally do not exceed twelve months and depend on the
commodity and other market factors. The Company attempts to closely match the commodity
contract expiration periods with the dates for product sale and delivery. Contracts are generally
designated and effective as a hedge of a firm purchase or sale commitment and, as such,
gains and losses are recognized in cost of sales when the related sale or purchase is made.

The Company may enter into interest rate swap contracts to manage exposure to interest
rate fluctuations. These contracts are designated as a hedge of variable or fixed rate debt
instruments. The interest differential, receivable or payable, under the swap contract is
recognized as interest expense in the period incurred. The notional value of outstanding swap
contracts as of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000 is $22,464 and $32,712, respectively. As of
April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, the estimated fair values of interest rate swaps was a loss
of $441 and a loss of $249, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over periods from 20 to
40 years. Machinery and equipment is depreciated over periods from two to 20 years.
Breeding stock is depreciated over two and one-half years. Assets held under capital leases
are classified as property, plant and equipment and amortized over the lease terms.
Lease amortization is included in depreciation expense. Repairs and maintenance charges
are expensed as incurred. Improvements that materially extend the life of the asset are
capitalized. Gains and losses from dispositions or retirements of property, plant and equipment
are recognized currently.

Interest on capital projects is capitalized during the construction period. Total interest
capitalized was $2,788 in fiscal 2001, $3,293 in fiscal 2000 and $2,377 in fiscal 1999. Repair
and maintenance expenses totaled $178,928, $160,222 and $120,833 in fiscal 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Other Assets
Goodwill is amortized over no more than 40 years. Deferred debt issuance costs are amortized
over the terms of the related loan agreements.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from product sales are recorded upon shipment to customers.
Environmental Expenditures
Environmental expenditures that relate to current or future operations are expensed or
capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past
operations and do not contribute to current or future revenue generation are expensed.
Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and cleanups are probable and the
cost can be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with the
Company’s commitment to a formal plan of action (See Note 12).
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Risk Management
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Self-Insurance Programs
The Company is self-insured for certain levels of general and vehicle liability, property,
workers’ compensation and health care coverage. The cost of these self-insurance programs is
accrued based upon estimated settlements for known and anticipated claims. Any resulting
adjustments to previously recorded reserves are reflected in current operating results.

Net Income Per Share
The Company presents dual computations of net income per share (See Note 13). The basic
computation is based on weighted average common shares outstanding during the period.
The diluted computation reflects the potentially dilutive effect of common stock equivalents,
such as stock options, during the period.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.’’ In June 2000, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 138 ‘‘Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities –
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.’’ The standards are collectively referred
to as SFAS 133. The Company adopted SFAS 133 effective April 30, 2001, the first day
of fiscal 2002.

SFAS 133 requires that all derivative instruments be reported on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives will be
recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending
on whether the derivative is designated and effective as part of a hedge transaction and
on the type of hedge transaction. Gains and losses on derivative instruments reported
in other comprehensive income will be recognized in earnings in the period in which earnings
are impacted by the underlying hedged item. The ineffective portion of all hedges will
be recognized in current period earnings. The application of these new standards may result
in volatility in reported earnings, other comprehensive income and accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

On April 30, 2001, the Company recorded a $12,716 after-tax cumulative effect loss
as accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
to recognize the fair value of all derivative instruments that are designated as hedge
transactions.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been restated to conform to fiscal 2001 presentations.
Substantially all of the Company’s products are produced from commodity-based raw
materials, corn and soybean meal in the HPG and live hogs in the MPG. The cost of corn and
soybean meal (the principal feed ingredients for hogs) and live hogs are subject to wide
fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as weather conditions, economic conditions,
government regulation and other unforeseen circumstances. The Company utilizes futures
and option contracts for live hogs and grains to manage hog production margins when
management determines the conditions are appropriate for such hedges. The particular
hedging methods employed and the time periods for the contracts depend on a number of
factors, including the availability of adequate contracts for the respective periods for the
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hedge. The Company attempts to closely match the commodity contract expiration periods
with the dates for product sale and delivery. The pricing of the Company’s fresh pork and
processed meats is monitored and adjusted upward and downward in reaction to changes in
the cost of the underlying raw materials. The unpredictability of the raw material costs limits
the Company’s ability to forward price fresh pork and processed meat products without the
use of commodity contracts through a program of price-risk management. The Company uses
price-risk management techniques to enhance its ability to engage in forward sales contracts,
where prices for future deliveries are fixed, by purchasing (or selling) commodity contracts
for future periods to reduce or eliminate the effect of fluctuations in future raw material costs
on the profitability of the related sales. While this may tend to limit the Company’s ability
to participate in gains from favorable commodity price fluctuation, it also tends to reduce the
risk of loss from adverse changes in raw material prices.

As of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, the Company had the following open commodity
futures positions:

CONTRACT VALUE

2001 2000

FAIR VALUE

2001 2000

Grains $193,184 $206,123 $(20,102) $ 90
Hogs & Bellies 57,921 505,531 (490) (41,399)

As of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, the Company had deposits with brokers for
outstanding futures contracts of $23,331 and $45,131, respectively, included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets.

In the Company’s third quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company’s Schneider Corporation
(‘‘Schneider’’) subsidiary increased its investment in Saskatchewan-based Mitchell’s Gourmet
Foods Inc. (‘‘Mitchell’s’’) to 54%, requiring the Company to consolidate Mitchell’s accounts and
to discontinue using the equity method of accounting for Mitchell’s. The impact of including
Mitchell’s in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of April 29, 2001 was to increase total assets
$87,307 and long-term debt $10,396. The balance of the purchase price in excess of the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition was recorded
as an intangible asset totaling $21,457. For the fiscal year ended October 2000, Mitchell’s
had annual sales of approximately $190 million.

In January of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Murphy Farms, Inc.
(‘‘Murphy’’) and its affiliated companies for 11.1 million shares of the Company’s common
stock (subject to post-closing adjustments) and the assumption of approximately $203,000
in debt, plus other liabilities. Murphy is a hog producer that has approximately 345,000 sows
that produce approximately 6.1 million market hogs annually. The balance of the purchase

price in excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisition was recorded as an intangible asset totaling $147,006.

Had the acquisition of Murphy occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2000, sales, net income
and net income per diluted share would have been $5,329,074, $77,633 and $1.31, respectively.

In May of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Carroll’s Foods, Inc.
(‘‘Carroll’s’’) and its affiliated companies and partnership interests for 4.3 million shares of
the Company’s common stock and the assumption of approximately $231,000 in debt, plus
other liabilities. Carroll’s U.S. hog production operations include approximately 180,000 sows
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that produce approximately 3.5 million market hogs annually. The acquisition also included
Carroll’s 50% interest in Tar Heel Turkey Hatchery, 100% of Carroll’s turkey grow-out
operations, Carroll’s 49% interest in Carolina Turkeys and certain hog production interests in
Brazil and Mexico. The balance of the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition was recorded as an intangible
asset totaling $45,100.

In August of fiscal 2000, the Company acquired the capital stock of Société Financière de
Gestion et de Participation S.A. (‘‘SFGP’’), a private-label processed meats manufacturer in
France. Prior to the acquisition, SFGP had annual sales of approximately $100,000.

In November of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired 63% of the total equity of Schneider
in exchange for approximately 2.5 million Exchangeable Shares of Smithfield Canada Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Schneider produces and markets fresh pork and
a full line of processed meats and is the second largest meat processing company in Canada.
The balance of the purchase price in excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition was recorded as an intangible asset totaling $36,900.

In April of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired a 67% interest in Animex S.A. (‘‘Animex’’),
a major meat and poultry processing company in Poland. During fiscal 2000, the Company
increased its ownership in Animex to 85% of total equity. The balance of the purchase
price in excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition was recorded as an intangible asset totaling $55,100.

In September of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Société
Bretonne de Salaisons (‘‘SBS’’), the largest private-label manufacturer of ham, pork
shoulder and bacon products in France. Prior to the acquisition, SBS had annual sales
of approximately $100,000.

In June of fiscal 1999, the Company increased its ownership in the Circle Four hog
production operation from 37% to 84%, requiring the Company to consolidate Circle Four’s
accounts. Prior to June of fiscal 1999, Circle Four was accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. As a result of the Carroll’s acquisition in May of fiscal 2000, Circle Four
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
In October of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the assets and business of
North Side Foods Corp. (‘‘North Side’’), a major domestic supplier of precooked sausage
to McDonald’s Corporation. Prior to the acquisition, North Side had annual sales of
approximately $60,000.

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
and accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial
position and results of operations from the dates of acquisition. Had the acquisitions of
Mitchell’s and SFGP occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2000, there would not have been a
material effect on sales, net income or net income per diluted share for such fiscal years.
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Long-term debt consists of the following:

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Long-term credit facility, expiring July 2002 $ 407,000 $ 395,000
7.625% senior subordinated notes, due February 2008 185,137 186,500
8.52% senior notes, due August 2006 100,000 100,000
7.89% senior note, payable through October 2009 85,000 95,000
8.25% note, payable through March 2006 75,000 75,000
Variable rate note, payable through October 2009 67,500 72,500
8.44% note, payable through October 2009 50,000 50,000
8.34% senior notes, due August 2003 40,000 40,000
Euribor 3 mos. � 1.00% Euro notes, due June 2001 22,600 10,672
Miscellaneous with interest rates ranging from 4.70%

to 10.75%, due May 2001 through September 2010 168,912 187,651
1,201,149 1,212,323

Less current portion (75,623) (44,941)
$1,125,526 $1,167,382

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2002 $ 75,623
2003 494,471
2004 111,029
2005 50,726
2006 47,143
Thereafter 422,157

$1,201,149

The Company has a five-year $650,000 revolving credit facility as its primary short-term
financing source. The borrowings are prepayable and bear interest, at the Company’s option,
at various rates based on margins over the federal funds rate or Eurodollar rate. This facility

expires in July 2002 and is expected to be refinanced in fiscal 2002.

The Company has aggregate credit facilities totaling $777,856. As of April 29, 2001, the
Company had unused capacity under these credit facilities of $311,704. Included in the
aggregate credit facilities are $35,504 of short-term international credit facilities classified as
notes payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These facilities are generally at prevailing
market rates. The Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of the aggregate
revolving credit facilities.

Average borrowings under credit facilities were $415,724 in fiscal 2001, $305,470 in fiscal
2000 and $74,820 in fiscal 1999 at average interest rates of approximately 7.3%, 7.5% and
6.3%, respectively. Maximum borrowings were $524,997 in fiscal 2001, $458,922 in fiscal 2000
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and $152,510 in fiscal 1999. Total outstanding borrowings were $442,504 and $457,200 with
average interest rates of 5.9% and 7.2% as of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, respectively.

The senior subordinated notes are unsecured. Senior notes are secured by certain of
the Company’s major processing plants and hog farm facilities. The $650,000 credit facility
is secured by substantially all of the Company’s U.S. inventories and accounts receivable.

The Company’s various debt agreements contain financial covenants that require the
maintenance of certain levels and ratios for working capital, net worth, current ratio, fixed
charges, capital expenditures and, among other restrictions, limit additional borrowings,
the acquisition, disposition and leasing of assets, and payments of dividends to shareholders.

The Company determines the fair value of public debt using quoted market prices and
values all other debt using discounted cash flow techniques at estimated market prices
for similar issues. As of April 29, 2001, the fair value of long-term debt, based on the market
value of debt with similar maturities and covenants, was approximately $1,181,000.

Income tax expense consists of the following:

2001 2000 1999

Current tax expense:
Federal $121,070 $26,994 $20,445
State 15,416 3,174 5,409
Foreign 4,470 1,480 1,963

140,956 31,648 27,817
Deferred tax expense:
Federal (7,362) 9,500 19,924
State (1,479) 1,073 (2,082)
Foreign 1,690 2,654 2,895

(7,151) 13,227 20,737
$133,805 $44,875 $48,554

A reconciliation of taxes computed at the federal statutory rate to the provision for income
taxes is as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Federal income taxes at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal

tax benefit 2.4 1.7 2.5
Taxes on foreign income which

differ from the statutory U.S.
federal rate 0.7 2.9 —

Foreign sales corporation benefit (0.7) (2.0) (1.4)
Other — (0.2) (2.2)

37.4% 37.4% 33.9%
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The tax effects of temporary differences consist of the following:

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Deferred tax assets:
Tax credits, carryforwards and net operating losses $ 19,059 $ 13,939
Accrued expenses 11,909 16,998
Inventories 2,473 1,758
Intangibles 2,462 2,210
Alternative minimum tax credits 1,741 1,407
Employee benefits 654 2,222
Other 1,453 572

$ 39,751 $ 39,106

Deferred tax liabilities:
Accounting method change $128,900 $138,403
Property, plant and equipment 123,560 120,277
Investments in subsidiaries 40,089 39,560

$292,549 $298,240

As of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, the Company had $18,718 and $15,195,
respectively, of net current deferred tax assets included in prepaid expenses and other current
assets. The Company had a valuation allowance of $20,214 and $5,265 related to income
tax assets as of April 29, 2001 and April 30, 2000, respectively, primarily related to losses
in foreign jurisdictions for which no tax benefit was recognized.

The tax credits, carryforwards and net operating losses expire from fiscal 2002 to 2021.
The alternative minimum tax credits do not expire.

As of April 29, 2001, foreign subsidiary net earnings of $29,139 were considered
permanently reinvested in those businesses. Accordingly, federal income taxes have not been
provided for such earnings. It is not practicable to determine the amount of unrecognized
deferred tax liabilities associated with such earnings.

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Payroll and related benefits $ 80,960 $ 68,611
Self-insurance reserves 31,870 29,248
Other 122,265 141,577

$235,095 $239,436

Share Repurchase Program

As of April 29, 2001, the board of directors has authorized the repurchase of 8,000,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock. The Company repurchased 2,626,935 shares and 2,978,600
shares in fiscal 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Preferred Stock
The Company has 1,000,000 shares of $1.00 par value preferred stock authorized, none of
which are issued. The board of directors is authorized to issue preferred stock in series and to
fix, by resolution, the designation, dividend rate, redemption provisions, liquidation rights,
sinking fund provisions, conversion rights and voting rights of each series of preferred stock.
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Stock Options
The Company’s 1992 Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘1992 Plan’’) provided for the issuance of
nonstatutory stock options to management and other key employees. Options were granted
for periods not exceeding 10 years and exercisable five years after the date of grant. The
exercise price prior to August 31, 1994 was for not less than the 150% of the fair market value
of the common stock on the date of grant and was amended to not less than the 100% on
or after August 31, 1994.

The Company’s 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘1998 Plan’’) provides for the issuance of
nonstatutory stock options to management and other key employees. Options were granted for
periods not exceeding 10 years and exercisable five years after the date of grant at an exercise
price of not less than the 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date
of grant. In fiscal 1999, the 1992 Plan was merged with the 1998 Plan. There are 5,500,000
shares reserved under the 1998 Plan. As of April 29, 2001, there were 2,679,000 shares
available for grant under the 1998 Plan.

The following is a summary of stock option transactions for fiscal years 1999 through 2001:

NUMBER OF

SHARES

WEIGHTED AVERAGE

EXERCISE PRICE

Outstanding at May 3, 1998 3,366,000 $10.47
Granted 260,000 27.96
Exercised (1,323,500) 4.42
Canceled (160,000) 15.56

Outstanding at May 2, 1999 2,142,500 15.95
Granted 55,000 23.99
Exercised (232,000) 11.53
Canceled (115,000) 16.85

Outstanding at April 30, 2000 1,850,500 16.69
Granted 740,000 26.44
Exercised (424,500) 11.78
Canceled (65,000) 22.83

Outstanding at April 29, 2001 2,101,000 $20.93

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of
April 29, 2001:
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICE SHARES

WEIGHTED AVERAGE

REMAINING

CONTRACTUAL

LIFE (YEARS)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE

EXERCISE PRICE

OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

SHARES

WEIGHTED AVERAGE

EXERCISE PRICE

$11.53 to 11.75 581,000 2.7 $11.55 531,000 $11.53
13.63 to 15.31 190,000 4.7 13.76 180,000 13.77
16.47 to 18.78 135,000 6.3 17.31 — —
25.69 to 29.19 1,165,000 8.3 26.91 — —
31.63 to 32.69 30,000 6.8 32.07 — —

$11.53 to 32.69 2,101,000 6.3 $20.93 711,000 $12.10
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The Company does not recognize compensation costs for its stock option plans. Had the
Company determined compensation costs based on the fair value at the grant date for its
stock options granted subsequent to fiscal 1995, the Company’s net income and net income per
share would have decreased accordingly. The fair value of each stock option share granted is
estimated at date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and weighted average
assumptions:

2001 2000 1999

Net income, as reported $223,513 $75,112 $94,884
Pro forma net income 221,686 73,960 93,705
Net income per share, as reported:

Basic $ 4.13 $ 1.54 $ 2.39
Diluted 4.06 1.52 2.32

Pro forma net income per share:
Basic $ 4.09 $ 1.52 $ 2.36
Diluted 4.03 1.50 2.29

Weighted average fair values of
option shares granted $ 13.27 $ 11.68 $ 13.40

Expected option life 7.0 years 7.0 years 7.0 years
Risk-free interest rate 6.3% 5.9% 5.3%
Expected annual volatility 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Preferred Share Purchase Rights
On May 30, 2001, the board of directors of the Company adopted a new Shareholder Rights
Plan (the ‘‘Rights Plan’’) and declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right
(a ‘‘Right’’) on each outstanding share of common stock. Under the terms of the Rights Plan,
if a person or group acquires 15% (or other applicable percentage, as provided in the Rights
Plan) or more of the outstanding common stock, each Right will entitle its holder (other than
such person or members of such group) to purchase, at the Right’s then current exercise price,
a number of shares of common stock having a market value of twice such price. In addition,
if the Company is acquired in a merger or other business transaction after a person or group
has acquired such percentage of the outstanding common stock, each Right will entitle its
holder (other than such person or members of such group) to purchase, at the Right’s then
current exercise price, a number of the acquiring company’s common shares having a market

value of twice such price.

Upon the occurrence of certain events, each Right will entitle its holder to buy one
one-thousandth of a Series A junior participating preferred share (‘‘Preferred Share’’),
par value $1.00 per share, at an exercise price of $180.00, subject to adjustment. Each
Preferred Share will entitle its holder to 1,000 votes and will have an aggregate dividend rate
of 1,000 times the amount, if any, paid to holders of common stock. The Rights will expire
on May 31, 2011, unless the date is extended or unless the Rights are earlier redeemed or
exchanged at the option of the board of directors for $.0001 per Right. Generally, each share
of common stock issued after May 31, 2001 will have one Right attached. The adoption of the
Rights Plan has no impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.
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Note 8
Pension and Other
Retirement Plans

The Company provides substantially all U.S. and Canadian employees with pension benefits.
Salaried employees are provided benefits based on years of service and average salary
levels. Hourly employees are provided benefits of stated amounts for each year of service.
The Company’s funding policy is to contribute the minimum amount required under government
regulations. Pension plan assets are invested primarily in equities, debt securities, insurance
contracts and money market funds.

The Company provides health care and life insurance benefits for certain retired
employees. These plans are unfunded and generally pay covered costs reduced by retiree
premium contributions, co-payments and deductibles. The Company retains the right to
modify or eliminate these benefits.

The changes in the status of the Company’s pension and postretirement plans, the related
components of pension and postretirement expense and the amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows:

PENSION BENEFITS

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $425,190 $442,752 $ 26,633 $ 30,294

Service cost 11,194 10,779 523 596
Interest cost 32,535 30,251 1,916 2,006
Plan amendments 1,437 — — (1,360)
Employee contributions 1,183 1,240 — —
Acquisitions 36,048 12,584 — —
Benefits paid (32,366) (26,929) (1,818) (1,869)
Foreign currency changes (7,379) (2,727) (739) (388)
Actuarial (gain) loss 12,602 (42,760) 268 (2,646)

Benefit obligation at end of year 480,444 425,190 26,783 26,633
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 411,273 396,725 — —

Actual return on plan assets 39,422 11,982 — —
Acquisitions 37,447 11,968 — —
Employer and employee contributions 18,550 20,676 1,818 1,869
Foreign currency changes (8,775) (3,149) — —
Benefits paid (32,366) (26,929) (1,818) (1,869)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 465,551 411,273 — —
Reconciliation of accrued cost:
Funded status (14,893) (13,917) (26,783) (26,633)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) or loss 1,726 (7,333) (1,053) —
Unrecognized prior service cost 14,322 14,236 — —
Accrued (prepaid) cost at end of year $ 1,155 $ (7,014) $(27,836) $(26,633)

Amounts recognized in the statement of
financial position consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 38,601 $ 35,211 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (64,687) (64,127) (27,836) (26,633)
Intangible asset 12,533 9,508 — —
Minimum pension liability 14,708 12,394 — —

Net amount recognized at end of year $ 1,155 $ (7,014) $(27,836) $(26,633)
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Components of net periodic costs include:

PENSION BENEFITS

2001 2000 1999

Service cost $ 11,194 $ 10,779 $ 6,626
Interest cost 32,535 30,251 22,007
Expected return on plan assets (36,339) (35,468) (25,834)
Net amortization 1,315 1,174 86

Net periodic cost $ 8,705 $ 6,736 $ 2,885

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

2001 2000 1999

Service cost $ 523 $ 596 $ 397
Interest cost 1,916 2,006 1,416
Net amortization (336) (124) 95

Net periodic cost $2,103 $2,478 $1,908

The projected benefit obligations, accumulated benefit obligations and fair value of plan
assets for the pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were
$200,361, $192,731 and $137,316, respectively, as of April 29, 2001 and $184,039, $174,709
and $119,951, respectively, as of April 30, 2000.

In determining the projected benefit obligation and the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation in fiscal 2001 and 2000, the following weighted average assumptions
were made:

PENSION BENEFITS

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

APRIL 29, 2001 APRIL 30, 2000

Discount rate 7.4% 7.7% 7.5% 7.5%
Expected return

on assets 8.7% 8.7% — —
Compensation

increase 3.5% 3.7% — —

In determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation in fiscal 2001 and 2000,
the assumed annual rate of increase in per capita cost of covered health care benefits for U.S.

plans was 5.5%. For non-U.S. plans, the assumed annual rate of increase was 7.5% for fiscal
2001 and decreased by 0.5% each year until leveling at 5.0%.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for
the health care plans. A 1% change in the assumed health care cost trends would have the
following effect:

ONE

PERCENTAGE POINT

INCREASE

ONE

PERCENTAGE POINT

DECREASE

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 189 $ (169)
Effect on accumulated benefit obligation $1,578 $(1,462)
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The Company has agreements, expiring from fiscal 2004 through 2013, to use cold storage
warehouses owned by partnerships, 50% of which are owned by the Company. The Company
has agreed to pay prevailing competitive rates for use of the facilities, subject to aggregate
guaranteed minimum annual fees. In fiscal 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company paid
$9,079, $8,505 and $8,046, respectively, in fees for use of the facilities. As of April 29, 2001
and April 30, 2000, the Company had investments of $834 and $989, respectively, in the
partnerships.

The Company leases transportation equipment under operating leases ranging from one
to 10 years with options to cancel at earlier dates. Minimum rental commitments under all
noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2002 $ 33,933
2003 20,340
2004 16,492
2005 12,627
2006 10,202
Thereafter 27,634

$121,228

Rental expense was $39,612 in fiscal 2001, $32,425 in fiscal 2000 and $24,535 in fiscal
1999. Rental expense in fiscal 2001, 2000 and 1999 included $3,228, $2,566 and $2,787 of
contingent maintenance fees, respectively.

The Company has a sale and leaseback arrangement for certain hog production facilities
accounted for as capital leases. The arrangement provides for an early termination at
predetermined amounts in fiscal 2004. Future minimum lease payments under capital leases
are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2002 $ 5,931
2003 5,450
2004 12,194
2005 2,602
2006 1,927

Thereafter 1,816

29,920
Less amounts representing interest (5,257)
Present value of net minimum obligations 24,663
Less current portion (3,966)
Long-term capital lease obligations $20,697

As of April 29, 2001, the Company had definitive commitments of $104,965 for capital
expenditures primarily for processed meats expansion, production efficiency projects and
additional hog production facilities in Utah.
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A director of the Company holds an ownership interest in Murfam Enterprises, LLC
(‘‘Murfam’’) and DM Farms, LLC. These entities own farms that produce hogs under contract
to the Company. Murfam also produces and sells feed ingredients to the Company. In
fiscal 2001 and 2000, the Company paid $25,236 and $7,565, respectively, to these entities
for the production of hogs and feed ingredients. In fiscal 2001 and 2000, the Company
was paid $16,325 and $3,382 by these entities for associated farm and other support costs.
The Company believes that the terms of the arrangements are at prevailing market prices.

A director of the Company is the chairman, president and chief executive officer and
a director of Prestage Farms, Inc. (‘‘Prestage’’). The Company has a long-term agreement
to purchase hogs from Prestage at prices that, in the opinion of management, are equivalent
to market. Pursuant to this agreement with Prestage, the Company purchased $157,510,
$138,705 and $106,365 of hogs in fiscal 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

In fiscal 2001, the Company sold 8,193 shares of IBP, inc. (‘‘IBP’’) common stock resulting in
a nonrecurring, pretax gain of $79,019. Expenses incurred during the fiscal year related to the
attempted merger with IBP and the expenses of the subsequent sale of these shares totaled
$7,500. The after-tax gain on the sale, net of expenses, amounted to $45,200, or $.82 per
diluted share.

Like other participants in the meat processing industry, the Company is subject to various laws
and regulations administered by federal, state and other government entities, including the
Environmental Protection Agency (‘‘EPA’’) and corresponding state agencies as well as the
United States Department of Agriculture, the United States Food and Drug Administration and
the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Management believes that
the Company presently is in compliance with all such laws and regulations in all material
respects, and that continued compliance with these standards will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The EPA has recently
proposed to extensively modify its regulations governing confined animal feeding operations.
These proposed modifications are scheduled to be finalized by December 2002 and could have
a significant impact on the Company’s hog production operations. The Company is committed
to responsible environmental stewardship in its operations.

The Company from time to time receives notices from regulatory authorities and others
asserting that it is not in compliance with such laws and regulations. In some instances,
litigation ensues, including the matters discussed below. Although the suits below remain

pending and relief, if granted, could be costly to the Company, the Company believes
that their ultimate resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position or annual results of operations.

In United States of America v. Smithfield Foods, Inc. et al., the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Virginia imposed a $12,600 civil penalty on the Company and
two of its subsidiaries for Clean Water Act violations at the Company’s Smithfield, Virginia
processing plants. The Company recorded a nonrecurring charge of $12,600 during fiscal 1998
with respect to this penalty. In September 1999, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Fourth Circuit affirmed the District Court’s determination of liability but remanded the penalty
determination to the District Court with instructions to recalculate the civil penalty solely to
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correct a 4% error made by the government’s expert. In May 2000, the Company filed a
certiorari petition seeking review of the Fourth Circuit’s ruling by the United States Supreme
Court. The Company’s certiorari petition was later denied, and the Company satisfied the
judgment.

The Water Keeper Alliance Inc., an environmental activist group from the State of New
York, has recently filed or caused to be filed a series of lawsuits against the Company and/or
its subsidiaries and properties, as described below.

In June 2000, Neuse River Foundation, Richard J. Dove, d/b/a The Neuse Riverkeeper,
D. Boulton Baldridge, d/b/a The Cape Fear Riverkeeper, New River Foundation, Inc., Tom
Mattison, d/b/a The New Riverkeeper, and The Water Keeper Alliance, Inc. filed a lawsuit in
the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division, of the State of North Carolina against
the Company, Carroll’s Foods, Inc., Brown’s of Carolina, Inc., Murphy Farms, Inc., Wendell H.
Murphy, Sr., Wendell H. Murphy, Jr., and Joseph W. Luter, III. The lawsuit alleged, among
other things, claims based on negligence, trespass, strict liability and unfair trade practices
related to the operation of swine waste disposal lagoons and spray fields in North Carolina.
The lawsuit sought numerous and costly remedies, including injunctive relief to end all
use of swine waste disposal lagoons and spray fields in North Carolina, unspecified but costly
remediation efforts and other damages. On March 27, 2001, the Superior Court granted
the Company’s motion and dismissed the lawsuit. The plaintiffs noted their appeal on
April 11, 2001.

In February 2001, Thomas E. Jones and twelve other individuals filed a lawsuit in the
North Carolina General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division of the State of North Carolina,
against the Company, three of its subsidiaries, Wendell H. Murphy, Sr., Wendell H. Murphy, Jr.,
and Joseph W. Luter, III (the ‘‘Jones Suit’’). The Jones Suit alleged, among other things, claims
based on negligence, trespass, strict liability and unfair trade practices related to the operation
of swine waste disposal lagoons and spray fields in North Carolina. The lawsuit sought
numerous and costly remedies, including injunctive relief to end all use of hog waste disposal
lagoons in North Carolina, unspecified but costly remediation efforts and other damages.
On March 27, 2001, the Superior Court granted the Company’s motion and dismissed the
lawsuit. The plaintiffs noted their appeal on April 11, 2001.

Also in February 2001, The Water Keeper Alliance Inc., Thomas E. Jones d/b/a The Neuse
Riverkeeper, and Neuse River Foundation filed two lawsuits in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of North Carolina against one of the Company’s subsidiaries, and
two of that subsidiary’s hog production facilities in North Carolina (the ‘‘Citizens Suits’’).
The Company is named as a defendant in one of these suits. The Citizens Suits allege, among
other things, violations of various environmental laws at each facility and the failure to obtain
certain federal permits at each facility. The lawsuits seek remediation costs, injunctive relief
and substantial civil penalties. The Company and its subsidiaries have moved to dismiss each
of these lawsuits.

The Company has also received notices from several organizations and individuals,

including The Water Keeper Alliance Inc., of their intent to file additional lawsuits against
the Company under various federal environmental statutes regulating water quality, air
quality, and management of solid waste. These threatened lawsuits may seek civil penalties,
injunctive relief and remediation costs. However, the Company is unable to determine
whether any of these notices will result in suit being filed.

In March 2001, Eugene C. Anderson and other individuals filed what purports to be a class
action in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division,
against the Company and Joseph W. Luter, III (the ‘‘Anderson Suit’’). The Anderson Suit
purports to allege violations of various laws, including the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act, based on the Company’s alleged failure to comply with certain environ-
mental laws. The complaint seeks treble damages that are unspecified. The plaintiffs filed
an amended complaint on May 1, 2001.
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The Company believes that the Anderson Suit is baseless and without merit and the
Company intends to defend the suit vigorously. The Company has investigated the allegations
made in the Citizens Suits and believes that the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. The
Company believes that all of the litigation described above represents the agenda of special
advocacy groups including the Water Keeper Alliance Inc. The plaintiffs in these cases have
stated that federal and state environmental agencies have declined to bring any of these suits
and, indeed, have criticized these agencies.

In April 2000, the Company and one of its subsidiaries were named as defendants, along
with IBP, inc., in a civil action filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District
of Georgia. The case was filed by four named plaintiffs on behalf of a putative nationwide
class of hog producers who from 1994 to the present produced and sold finished hogs to
defendants on a spot, auction or cash market basis. The plaintiffs contend that the defendants
violated the Packers and Stockyards Act of 1921 (the ‘‘PSA’’), by reason of the defendants
engaging in various captive supply arrangements for the procurement of hogs for slaughter.
The Company moved the Georgia court to dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction or in the
alternative transfer it to the Eastern District of Virginia, where the Company is headquartered.
On March 30, 2001, the Georgia court granted the Company’s motion to transfer. On May 11,
2001, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the case for failure to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted. The Company believes that it has valid defenses to this action, that it
has acted properly in its dealings with hog producers, and that it has not violated the PSA or
any other applicable law. The Company further believes that the action does not qualify for
certification as a class action. Accordingly, the Company intends to defend this action vigorously.

Note 13
Net Income Per Share

The computation for basic and diluted net income per share follows:

NET INCOME

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE SHARES PER SHARE

Fiscal 2001
Net income per basic share $223,513 54,180 $4.13
Effect of dilutive stock options — 893 —
Net income per diluted share $223,513 55,073 $4.06

Fiscal 2000
Net income per basic share $ 75,112 48,642 $1.54
Effect of dilutive stock options — 744 —

Net income per diluted share $ 75,112 49,386 $1.52

Fiscal 1999
Net income per basic share $ 94,884 39,628 $2.39
Effect of dilutive stock options — 1,334 —
Net income per diluted share $ 94,884 40,962 $2.32

In fiscal 2001, weighted average shares for the computation of diluted net income per
share excludes the antidilutive effect of outstanding stock options whose exercise price is in
excess of $28.45, the average price of the Company’s stock for the fiscal year.
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Note 14
Segments

The MPG markets its products to food retailers, distributors, wholesalers, restaurant and
hotel chains, other food processors and manufacturers of pharmaceuticals and animal feeds
in both domestic and international markets. The HPG supplies raw materials (live hogs) to
the hog slaughtering operations of the Company and other outside operations. The following
tables present information about the results of operations and the assets of both of the
Company’s reportable segments for the fiscal years ended April 29, 2001, April 30, 2000
and May 2, 1999. The information contains certain allocations of expenses that the Company
deems reasonable and appropriate for the evaluation of results of operations. The Company
does not allocate income taxes to segments. Segment assets exclude intersegment account
balances as the Company feels that inclusion would be misleading or not meaningful.
Management believes all intersegment sales are at prices which approximate market.

MEAT PROCESSING

HOG

PRODUCTION

GENERAL

CORPORATE TOTAL

Fiscal 2001
Sales $5,584,572 $1,225,820 $ — $6,810,392
Intersegment sales — (910,465) — (910,465)
Depreciation and amortization 85,628 49,380 5,042 140,050
Operating profit (loss) 1 135,205 281,296 (49,228) 367,273
Gain on sale of IBP common stock — — (79,019) (79,019)
Interest expense 46,607 23,547 18,820 88,974

Assets 1,743,944 1,282,559 224,385 3,250,888
Capital expenditures 124,923 16,047 3,150 144,120

Fiscal 2000
Sales $4,984,010 $ 735,328 $ — $5,719,338
Intersegment sales — (568,869) — (568,869)
Depreciation and amortization 73,133 41,288 4,543 118,964
Operating profit (loss) 122,880 99,633 (30,582) 191,931
Interest expense 37,941 26,103 7,900 71,944

Assets 1,613,395 1,319,097 197,121 3,129,613
Capital expenditures 91,925 7,262 1,196 100,383

Fiscal 1999
Sales $3,729,644 $ 155,796 $ — $3,885,440

Intersegment sales — (110,451) — (110,451)
Depreciation and amortization 48,814 16,541 3,211 68,566
Operating profit (loss) 253,839 (46,050) (23,830) 183,959
Interest expense 25,565 12,583 2,373 40,521

Assets 1,292,633 343,069 135,912 1,771,614
Capital expenditures 62,315 28,755 4,377 95,447

1 GENERAL CORPORATE EXPENSES INCLUDE $7,500 OF EXPENSES RELATED TO THE ATTEMPTED MERGER WITH IBP AND THE SUBSEQUENT SALE OF IBP COMMON STOCK (SEE NOTE 11).

52



Name /sm
ithfield/4455        08/01/2001 03:19PM     Plate # 0-comp pg 53   # 18

The following table presents the Company’s sales and long-lived assets attributed to
operations in the U.S. and international geographic areas.

2001 2000 1999

Sales:
U.S. $4,639,468 $4,016,749 $3,470,307
Canada 771,969 632,897 244,121
Poland 290,055 344,984 —
France 198,435 155,839 60,561

Total $5,899,927 $5,150,469 $3,774,989

Long-lived assets at end of year:
U.S. $1,576,497 $1,545,204 $ 790,315
Canada 229,690 187,092 169,038
Poland 114,041 90,809 78,201
France 66,965 73,782 51,980

Note 15
Subsequent Events

On June 22, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of Moyer Packing Company
(‘‘Moyer’’), a closely held beef processor with annual sales of approximately $600,000 for
$89,500 and the assumption of debt. Moyer is the ninth largest beef processor in the U.S.
and the largest in the Eastern United States. Operations include beef processing, fabrication,
and further processing, as well as hide processing and rendering operations.

The Company has announced an offer to acquire all of the common shares of Schneider
that it does not already own for approximately 1.4 million shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Company expects to complete the tender offer during the second quarter of
fiscal 2002.

Note 16
Quarterly Results of
Operations (Unaudited)

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH

Fiscal 2001
Sales $1,421,326 $1,430,919 $1,537,372 $1,510,310
Gross profit 229,400 234,796 229,493 255,214
Net income 44,569 44,576 80,849 53,519
Net income per

common share
Basic $ .82 $ .82 $ 1.49 $ 1.01

Diluted $ .81 $ .81 $ 1.46 $ .99

Fiscal 2000
Sales $1,142,415 $1,230,129 $1,377,166 $1,400,759
Gross profit 147,496 172,640 176,183 197,747
Net income 6,930 22,214 17,488 28,480
Net income per

common share
Basic $ .15 $ .49 $ .37 $ .52
Diluted $ .15 $ .48 $ .36 $ .51
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Report of Managem
ent

The management of Smithfield Foods, Inc. and its subsidiaries has the responsibility for
preparing the accompanying financial statements and for their integrity and objectivity.
The statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
applied on a consistent basis. The financial statements include amounts that are based
on management’s best estimates and judgements. Management also prepared the other
information in this annual report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with
the financial statements.

The Company’s financial statements have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP,
independent public accountants, elected by the shareholders. Management has made available
to Arthur Andersen LLP all of the Company’s financial records and related data as well as
the minutes of shareholders’ and directors’ meetings. Furthermore, management believes that
all representations made to Arthur Andersen LLP during its audits were valid and appropriate.

Management has established and maintains a system of internal control that provides
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, the
protection of assets from unauthorized use or disposition and the prevention and detection of
fraudulent financial reporting. The system of internal control provides for appropriate division
of responsibilities among employees and is based upon policies and procedures that are
communicated to those with significant roles in the financial reporting process. Management
continually monitors the system of internal control for compliance and updates this system
as it deems necessary.

Management believes that, as of June 5, 2001, the Company’s system of internal control
is adequate to accomplish the objectives discussed herein.

Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

C. Larry Pope
Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Daniel G. Stevens
Vice President and
Corporate Controller
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Rep
ort of Independent Public Accountants

To the Shareholders of Smithfield Foods, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Smithfield Foods, Inc.
(a Virginia corporation) and subsidiaries as of April 29, 2001, and April 30, 2000, and the
related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each
of the three years in the period ended April 29, 2001. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position of Smithfield Foods, Inc. and subsidiaries as of April 29, 2001,
and April 30, 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended April 29, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

Arthur Andersen LLP

Richmond, Virginia
June 5, 2001
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Directors
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC.
Robert L. Burrus, Jr.
Partner in the law firm of
McGuireWoods LLP

Carol T. Crawford
Visiting Professor of Law at George Mason

University School of Law

Ray A. Goldberg
Moffett Professor of Agriculture and
Business at Harvard Business School

George E. Hamilton, Jr.
Retired; President and Chief Operating
Officer of The Smithfield Packing Company,
Incorporated
Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer of
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Wendell H. Murphy
Private Investor, former Chairman of

the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of Murphy Farms, Inc.

William H. Prestage
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer of
Prestage Farms, Inc.

Melvin O. Wright
Advisor to PrimeCorp Finance,
a Paris merchant bank
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Timothy A. Seely
President and Chief Operating Officer,
Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd.
Management
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC.

Management Board Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer, Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Douglas A. Dodds
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Schneider Corporation

Jerry H. Godwin
President and Chief Operating Officer,
Murphy-Brown, LLC

Robert G. Hofmann, II
President and Chief Executive Officer,
North Side Foods Corp.
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William J. Arbuckle
Vice President, Logistics

Raoul J. Baxter
Vice President, Corporate Development

Bart Ellis
Vice President, Operations Analysis

Jerry Hostetter
Vice President, Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications
Richard J. M. Poulson
Vice President and Senior Advisor
to the Chairman, Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Jean A. Quentin
President, Smithfield France S.A.S.
and Animex S.A.

Joseph B. Sebring
President and Chief Operating Officer,
John Morrell & Co.
Vice President and Corporate Controller

Dhamu Thamodaran
Vice President, Price-Risk Management
Roger R. Kapella
President and Chief Operating Officer,
Patrick Cudahy Incorporated

Lewis R. Little
President and Chief Operating Officer,
The Smithfield Packing Company,
Incorporated

C. Larry Pope
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Corporate Officers Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

C. Larry Pope
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Richard J. M. Poulson
Vice President and
Senior Advisor to the Chairman

Elaine C. Abicht
Vice President, Purchasing
Robert A. Slavik
Vice President, Sales and Marketing
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Robert F. Urell
Vice President, Engineering,
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

Jeffrey M. Luckman
Vice President, Livestock Procurement

William E. Pierce
Vice President, Information Technology

Robert A. Slavik
Vice President, Sales and Marketing

Daniel G. Stevens
Robert F. Urell
Vice President, Engineering

Michael H. Cole
Secretary and Associate General Counsel

Jeffrey A. Deel
Assistant Corporate Controller
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Corporate Information

Common Stock Data The Common Stock of the Company has traded on The New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol ‘‘SFD’’ since September 28, 1999. Prior to that the Common Stock traded on
The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ‘‘SFDS.’’ The following table shows the high
and low sales prices of the Common Stock of the Company for each quarter of fiscal 2001
and 2000.

2001

HIGH LOW

2000

HIGH LOW

First $29.75 $20.38 $34.06 $23.50
Second 29.16 23.31 31.88 21.38
Third 33.30 26.63 26.00 16.69
Fourth 38.10 27.56 22.75 14.88

Smithfield Foods, Inc. has not paid dividends on its common stock since its incorporation.

Corporate Headquarters Smithfield Foods, Inc.
200 Commerce Street
Smithfield, VA 23430
757-365-3000

Transfer Agent and Registrar Computershare Investor Services, LLC
2 North LaSalle Street
Chicago, IL 60602
312-588-4700

Independent Public Accountants Arthur Andersen LLP
1051 East Cary Street
Suite 800
Richmond, VA 23219

Annual Meeting The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on August 29, 2001 at 2 p.m.
at The Jefferson Hotel, Franklin and Adams Streets, Richmond, Virginia.

Form 10-K Report Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K Annual Report are available without charge,
upon written request to:
Corporate Secretary
Smithfield Foods, Inc.
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200 Commerce Street
Smithfield, VA 23430

Investor Relations Inquiries about investor related information should be directed to:
Vice President of Investor Relations
Smithfield Foods, Inc.
499 Park Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, NY 10022
212-758-2100
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The following Smithfield Foods employees are featured 

inside this annual report, in order of appearance:

Jim Hoffman, Plant Manager

Dr. Jeff Hansen, Nutritionist and Manager 

Ernest Purdie, Loin Trimmer

Dr. Mary Battrell, Veterinarian

Janice Murphy, Case-Ready Product Packager

Monique Meyers, Quality Assurance Lab Technician

Kraig Westerbeek, Director, Environmental Compliance

HOW DID WE DO IT? WITH SUPERIOR GENETICS, CONTROLLED FEEDING AND THE

OTHER BENEFITS OF VERTICAL INTEGRATION, WE’VE TRANSFORMED PORK FROM A

COMMODITY ITEM INTO A CONSISTENT, HIGH-QUALITY, BRANDED PRODUCT. AS YOU MEET

SOME OF OUR EMPLOYEES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES, WE HOPE YOU SEE THAT THE ONLY

THING OLD-FASHIONED ABOUT SMITHFIELD FOODS IS HOW OUR PRODUCTS TASTE.

Financial Highlights

01 To Our Shareholders
05 A History of Outstanding Shareholder Returns
07 Reaping the Rewards of Vertical Integration
12 Highlights From Our Family of Companies
19 A Sound Approach to the Environment
21 Financial Contents

ABOUT THE COVER: A $100 INVESTMENT IN SMITHFIELD FOODS MADE ON MAY 1, 1981, WAS WORTH $8,511 ON APRIL 27, 2001. SOURCE: FACTSET

Covers  7/31/01  1:25 PM  Page IFC2



Smithfield Foods, Inc.
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00 investment
ithfield Foods
 1981 is worth
$8,511 today.”

IELD FOODS CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CEO JOSEPH W. LUTER, III

00 investment
ithfield Foods
 1981 is worth
$8,511 today.”

IELD FOODS CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CEO JOSEPH W. LUTER, III
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